## CHALLENGES FACED BY GRADE 10 LEARNERS IN SEPEDI HOME LANGUAGE ESSAY WRITING IN MANKWENG CIRCUIT, CAPRICORN DISTRICT, LIMPOPO PROVINCE, SOUTH AFRICA

by

## LEMAO SABINA MAKOTSENG

Submitted in the fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of

MASTER OF EDUCATION

in

Language Education

in the

FACULTY OF HUMANITIES

(School of Education)

At the

UNIVERSITY OF LIMPOPO

SUPERVISOR: MR PHOKWANE PP

CO-SUPERVISOR: Dr MALEDU AD

## DECLARATION

I, Sabina Makotseng Lemao, declare that all the work involved in this research study titled 'Challenges Faced by Grade 10 Learners in Sepedi Home Language Essay Writing in Mankweng Circuit, Capricorn District, Limpopo Province, South Africa', it is the work that I have accumulated myself. All the sources used in the study are acknowledged and listed in the reference list.

Signature:

Date: ...04/07/2023

## ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to give thanks to the Almighty, the creator of people, the giant of the nations, King Jacob, for giving me the strength, patience and wisdom to produce this research.

I also give thanks to Mr Phokwane, P.P. for inspiring and supporting me in all the processes of this study. Without your help and guidance, this path would have been difficult. I would like to thank you for you, Mr Phokwane, Dr Maledu A.D for your patience and motivation to work on this study until this end.

To my mom, (Hunadi) Dimakatso Edith, thank you for taking the responsibility of upbringing me, you did all that you can for me to be where I am today. I appreciate the responsibility you took of doing house chores to create time for me to work on this study. Thank you for your love and encouragement. To my siblings, I say thank you for your support.

To my loving husband, Selepe Martin Mothapo, I truly appreciate all your efforts and caring gestures. You made every effort to ensure that I worked on this research to this very end. You have pushed with all might to see that this research is complete. Thank you.

To those who were involved in this study, particularly the learners who have agreed to participate in this research, the parents of the learners, the head of the school and the teachers of the school where the research was conducted, I thank you all so much.

To the University of Limpopo, thank you for accepting me to study for this course and assigning me the diligent supervisors to help with this study.

## DEDICATION

I dedicate this work to my parents, Edith Dimakatšo Lemao and Leavy Maupi Lemao, who worked hard to fulfill the duty of parenthood, working together to ensure that I learned until I was able to be independent and stand up for myself. This work is also dedicated to my siblings Phenyo Lemao, Thato Lemao and Dineo Lemao for their respect and for releaving me of house chores so that I have ample time for my studies. To my supervisors Mr Phokwane PP and Dr AD Maledu for their dedication and guidance throughout my studies.

#### ABSTRACT

The study investigated the challenges faced by Grade 10 learners in Sepedi Home Language essay writing in Mankweng Circuit. The study aimed at finding solutions to the challenges that Grade 10 learners encounter when writing essays in their Home Language. The motive of exploring this topic is that mastering essay writing skills among Sepedi Home Language learners remains a challenge, particularly in Further Education and Training (FET). As such, the study was conducted to evaluate how Sepedi Home Language curriculum is implemented in classroom to address and respond to challenges of essay writing. This study employed qualitative research methodology and sampled one secondary school. Data collection was done through face to face interviews, document analysis and diagnostic assessments. The study involved Heads of Departments, teachers, and Grade 10 learners as participants. Data collected was analysed following the inductive method of thematic data analysis.

## ABBREVIATIONS AND ACRONYMS

- EFL **English Foreign Language** HL Home Language FAL First Additional Language OBE **Outcome-based Education** ΒE Bantu Education C2005 Curriculum 2005 RNCS **Revised National Curriculum Statement** CAPS **Curriculum Assessment Policy Statement** General Education and Training GET Language of Learning and Teaching LOLT T4W **Teaching for Writing** CLT **Communicative Language Teaching**
- DoBE Department of Basic Education

## Contents

DECLARATIONi
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS ii
DEDICATION iii
ABSTRACTiv
ABBREVIATIONS AND ACRONYMS
CHAPTER ONE
INTRODUCTION AND BACKROUND OF THE STUDY1
1.1 INTRODUCTION
1.2. BACKGROUND OF THE STUDY
1.3 PROBLEM STATEMENT
1.4 LITERATURE REVIEW
1.4 THEORETICAL FRAMEWORK
1.5 OBJECTIVES
Research questions4
The main question4
Additional questions4
1.6 RESEARCH METHODOLOGY
1.6.1 Research Design
1.6.2 IDENTIFICATION OF DATA
1.6.2.1 Research team5
1.6.2.2 Identification
1.6.3 DATA COLLECTION
1.6.4. ANALYSIS OF DATA
1.6.5. QUALITATIVE ATTRIBUTES IN RESEARCH
1.6.5.1 Persuasion7
1.6.5.2 Verification7
1.6.5.3 Transferability7
1.6.5.4 Support7
1.7 IMPORTANCE OF THE STUDY
1.8 ETHICAL CONSIDERATIONS
Request for permission8
Informed Consent8
Confidentiality, Anonymity and Respect8
• Protection from harm9

1.9. CONCLUSION	9
CHAPTER TWO	10
LITERATURE REVIEW	10
2.1 INTRODUCTION	10
2.2 THE CRISIS CAUSED BY LACK OF PLANNING	11
2.4 THE IMPACT OF CODE SWITCHING ON HOME LANGUAGE AND ENGLISH ADDITIONAL LANGUA	
OR ENGLISH FOREIGN LANGUAGE (EFL).	
2.5 WRITING STANDARD PROCESS	
2.6 THE VALUE OF MOTHER TONGUE IN EDUCATION	
2.7 THE INFLUENCE OF CURRICULUM ON SEPEDI AS A HOME LANGUAGE	20
2.8 THE STATUS OF LANGUAGE OF LEARNING AND TEACHING (LOLT) IN SOUTH AFRICAN PUBLIC SCHOOLS	20
2.9 LANGUAGE IN SOUTH AFRICAN SCHOOLS	21
2.10 GUIDELINES OF WRITING DIFFERENT TYPES OF ESSAYS IN CLASSROOM IN ACCORDANCE WIT SEPEDI LANGUAGE	
2.12 SOCIAL MEDIA AND THE SKILLS OF ESSAY WRITING	23
2.13 ESSAY WRITING IN SCHOOLS	25
2.14 THE STANDARD OF WRITING SENTENCES IN ESSAYS	27
2.17 CONCLUSION	31
CHAPTER THREE	33
RESEARCH DESIGN AND METHODOLOGY	33
3.1 INTRODUCTION	33
3.2 RESEARCH PLANNING/ THEORETICAL FRAMEWORK	33
3.2.1 THE RESEARCH METHOD	34
3.2.2 Stakeholder identification	35
3.2.3 DATA COLLECTION	35
3.2.4 ANALYSIS OF DATA	36
3.2.5. THE IMPORTANCE OF RESEARCH	36
3.2.6 QUALITY CRITERIA	37
3.2.7 Ethical Consideration	38
3.2.8 CONCLUSION	39
CHAPTER FOUR	40
DATA PRESENTATION AND ANALYSIS	40
4.1. INTRODUCTION	40
BIOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION OF EDUCATORS WHO TOOK PART IN THE STUDY	40
BIOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION OF THE LEARNERS	41

4.1.1 THE TEACHERS' INTERVIEW
4.1.1.1 ANALYSIS OF TEACHERS' INTERVIEWS RESPONSES
4.1.2 ANALYSIS OF DISCUSSIONS AND RESPONSES FROM LEARNERS
4.3 CONCLUSION
CHAPTER FIVE61
SUMMARY OF FINDINGS AND RECOMMENDATIONS61
5.1. INTRODUCTION
5.2 SUMMARY OF CHAPTERS61
5.3 SUMMARY OF FINDINGS
5.3.1 CHALLENGES62
5.4 RECOMMENDATIONS
5.4.1 Teachers' recommendations to the department of education
5.4.2 Researcher's recommendations to teachers and learners66
5.4.3 Recommendations for teachers on writing steps67
5.5 STRUCTURES AND RULES OF LANGUAGE USAGE THAT TEACHERS SHOULD GUIDE LEARNERS
WITH DURING THE WRITING PROCESS
5.5.1 Researcher's recommendations to parents of the learners
5.5.2 Recommendations to educators, learners, and parents on the importance of writing skills69
5.6 Conclusions
REFERENCES
APPENDICES

#### **CHAPTER ONE**

## INTRODUCTION AND BACKROUND OF THE STUDY

#### **1.1 INTRODUCTION**

This chapter presents the general introduction of the study, with key focus on the background of the study, research problem, preliminary literature review, research methodology, significance of the study, ethical considerations and quality criteria. This chapter serves an important role of giving the reader a glimpse of what the study is all about, why it is conducted, how data was collected and analysed as well as how the researcher envisages the study to contribute to the society regarding the identified problem.

## **1.2. BACKGROUND OF THE STUDY**

Writing is an important part of the academic success, because it enables individuals to communicate, express thoughts and feelings without having to meet face-to-face. Thus, people often write to known or unknown recipients. There are different types of writing or genres in written language, e.g., argumentative writing, critical writing, narrative writing, explorative writing, etc. However, the focus of this study in on the challenges regarding narrative essay writing among Grade 10 Sepedi Home Language (HL) learners. Narrative writing is designed to help express ideas, sides in debates and opinions. It is gives writers an opportunity to express their views in a way that is understandable (White, 2020). Pupils fail to express their thoughts and ideas when they write long texts such as descriptive essays (Samuels & Garbati 2018). Narrative essay writing in which the teacher gives learners a topic of an essay to write without analysing the needs of writing an essay (Makgai, 2015).

Another obstacle that adds to the difficulties of narrative essay writing among learners is the translation of languages and the issue of mixing languages when the Sepedi Home Language is spoken. For many reasons, writing prolonged texts is a challenge to most learners due to lack of vocabulary in of the Home Language, which is caused by confusion emanating from language mixing. This affects learners in that they lack home language vocabulary to construct meaningful sentences nor express

comprehensive ideas in writing. To add to the fact that learners encounter obstacles or fail to produce information through writing, Akram (2020) states that lack of attention to gather important points, word confusion, incorrect writing and lack of time to read in the second language are major contributory factors towards learners' essay writing difficulties. Relatively, the current researcher realised that one of the reasons why learners fail to produce basic information is that teachers do not give learners the necessary information to help them with their writing.

#### **1.3 PROBLEM STATEMENT**

Grade 10 learners in Mankweng Circuit in Limpopo Province, lack the skills of writing essays Sepedi Home Language. The researcher identified that some of the factors that hinder learners' essay writing skills are; lack of knowledge, misuse of language and vocabulary, lack of experience in gathering and organising the material to be written about, misuse of words, misspellings and lack of opportunity or time to read critically. The researcher's perception is testified and supported by Akram (2020) when stating that "First language interference and incorrect use of grammar contribute to errors in essay writing". Thus, the purpose of this research is to unravel the complexities and obstacles that Grade 10 learners encounter when writing essays in Sepedi Home Language.

#### 1.4 LITERATURE REVIEW

According to Sebeko (2015), the methods by which essay writing is assessed are not able to help learners to recognise their mistakes nor understand what is required in essay writing. Teachers are mandated to use rubrics–causing the marking standards for learners very scarce. When doing corrections, teachers often correct things that do not need corrections nor do they help learners make proper corrections. The teachers mark learners' essays without looking at all sides of the essay text. According to Makgai (2015), high school learners fail to write and produce relevant or basic essays because they are not guided by the standards and process of writing or the writing and presentation skills. In other words, this explains that students fail to write essays because they are never constructively assessed on their writing skills. Makgai (2015) goes on to say that teachers never teach learners the requirements of an essay as well as to write essays well. Learners are taught to write essays using old teaching methods, hence they do not adapt to the change in the curriculum. Charanjit (2017) portrays that learners fail to follow the proper standards for writing essays due to lack of vocabulary and the use of non-basic language. In addition, Ariyanti (2017) explains that essay writing is a challenge to learners because many still face the difficulties of developing basic writing skills. Thus, having to follow a structure of a specific essay and organise ideas in the manner that is required by the type of essay written become a serious challenge. For example, learners still grapple with challenges such as misuse of language, misuse of punctuations and misspellings.

In line with the above arguments, Ariyanti (2017) says that essay writing is affected by three problems namely, fire response or mixing languages in the poem, thinking levels (this will address self-imagination and writing aesthetic creativity), and learners' mental levels. On the other hand, Safia (2018) explains that when learners write essays, they produce errors such as misspelling, misuse of punctuation marks, failure in word planning and word formation, and interference of other languages. As such, Dondapati (2020) suggests that quality teaching methods are no longer essential for education as they are not able to solve the problems that learners encounter in classes. The current researcher concurs that the current teaching methods should be able to guide learners in gaining experience of using language to express their thoughts, emotions and views through writing. Therefore, this research aims to examine the obstacles that Grade 10 learners face when writing essays in their Sepedi Home Language.

#### **1.4 THEORETICAL FRAMEWORK**

This research paper followed the Social Cognitive Theory (SCT) supported by the behavioural capability and self- efficacy, as both describe the details and importance of human knowledge and human abilities which enable a person to present themselves and demonstrate their confidence and abilities. Behavioural capability and self-efficacy are related to the process of this research in the following way; this research aims to address the problems and constraints of essay writing. Therefore, for the essay writing process to be successful, it must follow the level of learners' cognitive abilities and recognise the learners' abilities and interests. The important

thing is that for learners to produce basic texts, they must have knowledge of what they are writing and follow the requirements to be able to produce a text.

"SCT is a theory that propounds that learning occurs in a social context with a dynamic and reciprocal interaction of the person, environment and behaviour" (Bandura, 1960). Social cognitive theory is supported by schema theory in that the knowledge that learners have or could have been taught or are being taught is brought about and multiplied by past knowledge or experiences in which the learner has been involved. Schema theory, thus, explains that learners' background knowledge is informed by their past experiences on their writing skills and tasks. In this study, learners were assessed on narrative essays, where they were they examined on the ability to plan and imagine in their essay texts. It is the researcher's view that narrative essay allows learners to be creative and gather facts through reading and writing texts, and thus develop knowledge, experience and skills.

## **1.5 OBJECTIVES**

The purpose of this study was to identify and solve the problems that learners encounter when writing essays in Grade 10 in Sepedi Home Language.

#### **Research questions**

To address the research objective, the researcher sought to find answers for the following questions:

#### The main question

What are the difficulties faced by Grade 10 learners in writing essays in their Home Language, Sepedi?

#### Additional questions

How do learners approach the issue of writing an essay in Sepedi as their Home Language?

What methods do teachers use to teach essay writing in Sepedi Home Language?

What additional methods are used to address the problems that arise when Grade 10 learners write essays in Sepedi Home Language?

#### **1.6 RESEARCH METHODOLOGY**

#### 1.6.1 Research Design

The qualitative research method was followed in this study and it enabled the researcher to visit participants and collect data from them in their authentic setups. This research followed an interpritivist paradigm where the researcher presented phenomena that happen in the nature of people's lives, such as learners and teachers. Quality attributes of this methodology are that the researcher can collect readable data, and not statistics. This methodology was also used to assess events and issues that arose on all sides of the sampled participants. Furthermore, this approach helped the researcher to reveal barriers that prevented learners from following the standards and planning of the essay writing process. The written product approach was used to determine solutions to the problems of the essay writing process in the selected school.

#### **1.6.2 IDENTIFICATION OF DATA**

#### 1.6.2.1 Research team

The Mankweng Circuit consists of twelve (12) high schools. The research group was drawn from one high school in Mankweng Circuit. The selected school had a total number of 635 learners, and 14 teachers. The population of Grade 10 learners in the selected school was represented by 52 pupils, while that of Sepedi HL teachers was represented by 2 educators.

#### 1.6.2.2 Identification

Classification by intention was applied in this study. This nomination was appropriate because six pupils and two teachers were required for the study. The Sepedi HL teacher assisted the researcher in selecting the six learners according to their cognate levels, i.e., upper-class, middle-class and lower-class learners.

#### **1.6.3 DATA COLLECTION**

The following methods of data collection will be followed:

• In the planning conflict

This stage was done with teachers. The planning dialogue helped the researcher to ask the right questions and get the right answers from the stakeholders. Thus, the

tools that helped the researcher to produce this study were dissertation planner, dictionary, event recorder and field notes.

Report

The researcher visited the classrooms of the learners and teachers to collect data for this report. As the teacher taught learners the process of the essay writing, the researcher took notes in line with the events that responded to the objective and questions of this study.

Documentation review

The researcher gave learners an activity to write a narrative essay on the title, "My first day at school". With this type of essay, the researcher managed to assess the learners' skills and determine their shortcomings in terms of word formation and paragraph structure. Thus, the researcher succeeded in collecting information from the students' essays. The essays were assessed and marked to examine learners' writing and presentation skills in terms of the hierarchy of the writing process. The assessment also looked into learners' errors regarding syntax, spelling and paragraph formation.

## 1.6.4. ANALYSIS OF DATA

Data will be analysed through the lenses of qualitative research approach. The analytic method is called the thematic analysis. This paradigm has three methods of data analysis. They are data reduction, data display, and conclusion drawing. Data reduction is an analytical method of reducing the collected data into the crucial aspects that can be used to draw conclusion of the research. Data display is the second step which goes beyond data reduction by providing a compressed picture of the information that leads to conclusion drawing. The data is commonly displayed in themes. In the third step, which is conclusion drawing, conclusions are finalised once the analysis is completed by taking a step back to assess what the analysed data mean and the implications on the research question (Bhandari, 2022). This study will combine the above three steps to analyse the data collected accurately.

## **1.6.5. QUALITATIVE ATTRIBUTES IN RESEARCH**

This section discusses models for proving the quality of the study.

## 1.6.5.1 Persuasion

According to Jacobs and Walker (2014), the researcher accomplishes the persuasiveness of qualitative research by detailing the methods used during the research and having detailed evidence of the information. To accomplish this, the researcher went back to the selected stakeholders and gave them a detailed explanation of how the information they provided was presented and the results of the information from the oral interviews.

## 1.6.5.2 Verification

In this subsection, the researcher used qualitative method. William (2021) states that the researcher's assumptions and opinions should not influence the results of the research. The researcher was successful in visiting Sepedi Home Language teaching professionals and recorded what was said by the stakeholders. Thereafter, the researcher gave respondents what was recorded for them to agree or disagree where they are not satisfied. Furthermore, the researcher re-visited the transcriptions to check whether what has been recorded matches the opinions expressed by the stakeholders.

## 1.6.5.3 Transferability

This is an evaluation of the results of qualitative research to ensure that they can be transferred to other research areas—the purpose of which is to make the research useful to other researchers. Williams (2021) states that transferability implies that the findings can be given to other researchers to check if the researcher's conclusions are reasonable, useful and easy to use in other contexts.

## 1.6.5.4 Support

Support refers to the evaluation of the information provided. After data analysis, the researcher went back to the participants to inform them that the data was analysed for them to verify that the researcher did not add or supplement the information they have provided.

## **1.7 IMPORTANCE OF THE STUDY**

The study will be significant to the education sector, learners and teachers in the following ways:

• This research will educate learners and teachers about the importance of the essay writing process in Sepedi HL in their classrooms.

• This research will help teachers to identify strategies to facilitate learning in a way that will be understood.

• Curriculum developers will be able to identify the problems and obstacles that arise when learners writers essays.

## **1.8 ETHICAL CONSIDERATIONS**

It is the responsibility of the researcher to ensure that the stakeholders involved in this research are respected and protected from harm of any sort, and this was ensured through addressing the factors below:

#### Request for permission

The researcher requested for permission from the University of Limpopo's Research Ethics Department (TREC) to conduct this research. Request was also made to the principal, the English language teachers and the parents of the children who participated in the research. All stakeholders were informed of the purpose of the research. Application letters are attached at the end of this study, in the appendices.

## Informed Consent

Stakeholders were informed of what the research is about and the importance of their participation in the research. Participation was voluntary, meaning that stakeholders had the right to agree or refuse without being interrogated. Participants were given consent forms to sign to indicate that they agree to participate in the study.

#### • Confidentiality, Anonymity and Respect.

Names and information of stakeholders was respected and kept confidential. The collected information from the stakeholders was kept anonymous. The researcher used codes such as, Learner A, B, C, etc. instead of the participants' real names.

## Protection from harm

Participants were promised that participation in the study will not cause them any problems in their physical or emotional well-being. Parents of learners were also informed and assured that their learners will not be at risk for participating in this investigation.

## **1.9. CONCLUSION**

This chapter presented information of the research process step by step, looking at all the steps that the researcher took to reach the solution of the research problem. Further, this chapter presented the detailed background of the study, the research problem, a preliminary literature review, the methodology, the significance of the study as well as the quality criteria and ethical considerations. The next chapter broadly discusses the research findings portrayed by other scholars regarding the title and problem of this study.

## CHAPTER TWO

## LITERATURE REVIEW

#### 2.1 INTRODUCTION

The previous chapter outlined the projection of the study and presented a summarised literature concerning the problem of this study. Thus, this chapter performs an in-depth review of literature that addressed similar problems to the current study. This chapter reveals how far or how unique and how common the problem of the study is to the world through various writings, studies or investigations. The gap that was explained in chapter one is explored in this chapter through literature. Primarily, this chapter reviewed literature that focused on writing, particularly essay writing in schools.

Literature review refers to the process of reviewing the work of others within the researcher's scope of work and being used as a basis for gathering information for the research being written. (Hard, 2018) In this section the findings that support this research will be presented as well as the shortcomings that arise when the researcher examines the findings and views of other authors. The focus of this research is on the role played in the writing of essays in Sepedi home language. Questions that will be answered by the following, what are the problems that pervade the English lesson instead of writing essays? How important is the essay? What writing techniques can facilitate essay writing in class?

The reviewed literature has culminated in the following themes: lack of planning or preparation of lessons, the impact of code-switching, the process of writing standard language, the value of mother tongue in education, influence that comes with curriculum changes, the impact of the Language of Leaning and teaching (LOLT), the usage of language in public schools, writing steps of essays, the existing correspondence between types of essays, social media and skills of essay writing in school and methods of teaching and learning writing skills.

#### 2.2 THE CRISIS CAUSED BY LACK OF PLANNING

Makgai (2015) claims that most of the 10th grade learners lack essay writing skills. According to Makgai (2015), the essay writing of many learners is affected by poor wording of the introductions to their essays and the inability to choose and arrange words when writing. Learners are not able to create paragraphs that carry the whole idea of the text. For example, the introductory, body and concluding paragraphs are often not arranged properly to convey the message. Makgai (2015) further says that the essays that learners write appear to be of poor quality because learners do not have the skills to mix or present the use of metaphor and vocabulary in their essays. However, learners do not follow the rule on the instructions for writing a moderate length of essay. Thus, Makgai (2015) concludes that teachers should focus on teaching essay writing techniques and skills to enable learners to develop good essay writing abilities, and produce basic essays in the Sepedi Home Language.

Sibeko (2015) explains that the ability to write an essay is one of the aspects of the Home Language subject that deserves to be assessed. Sibeko(2015) further points out that the problem related to the lesson of writing standard essays is that teachers lack information regarding the appropriate or basic methods of marking the learners' written essays in Grade 10. While further expressing agreement with the case of Makgai (2015), Sibeko (2015) claims that learners fail to score high or significant marks because they fail to produce meaningful sentences nor use appropriate vocabulary in their essays. He says that essays are often determined by the way they are presented or written. Hence, assessing and marking learners' essays contributes significantly to learners' development as teachers are able to identify and address learners' weaknesses regarding writing, vocabulary use, as well as creativity. Therefore, marking learners' essays is meant to guide teachers on how they can cut the lesson short, as learning and teaching essay writing in higher education is a longer process.

According to Modiba (2018), in order for learners to become proficient in writing whether in any language, they must have the proficiency or skills of writing and reading in their Home Language. That is, the basis for a learner to write in other languages is mastering reading and writing in their Home Languages. As such, it is possible that the difficulties of writing in Sepedi can be avoided as the skills of the HL subject can be integrated with those that learners have acquired from the primary school level. Modiba (2018) goes on to explain that based on the literature he has examined, it is

proven that if learners can leave primary school with weaknesses of writing in a home language. If not addressed in the early grades of the secondary school level, these weaknesses can affect learners' writing throughout the schooling system. Therefore, Madiba (2018) asserts that it is important for learners to have the skills of writing and reading in the HL to be able to read and write in other languages. It is the responsibility of teachers to apply the curriculum in their classrooms when teaching literacy. Traditionally, Sepedi language learners studied in Sepedi for three years before starting school. They then had to use English as the Language of Teaching in the Home Language at primary school level can improve learners' academic performance in the upper grades.

Becoming an expert in the skills of writing and presenting a standard essay is stressful for high school students (Nyasimi, 2014). This supports the arguments of Makgai (2015) and Sibeko (2015) who have argued that the problems that hinder learners to produce basic essays are lack of creativity, spelling errors and lack of appropriate teaching and learning aids. Nyamisi (2014) explains that the difficulties involved in writing essays are reduced by the need for curriculum developers and teachers to explore and apply new strategies of teaching essay writing. For example, learners can be encouraged to work in groups, where they imagine and create their own essays. Teachers can use visual aids where learners will observe and understand the planning required when writing an essay. This will ensure that learners do not forget the steps of writing an essay.

According to Nondabula (2020), it is important for children to have a writing plan, as writing is an important tool of expressing one's thoughts, feelings and views. In addition, Nondabula (2020) explains that although literacy is important in high schools, especially in Grades 9 and 10, learners are more concerned about the problem of not being able to write due to the methods that teachers use to teach Home Language (HL) and First Additional Language (FAL). Thus, Manning (2017) advance that factors affecting the artistic role of writing skills in teaching and learning deserve to be identified and discussed. Manning (2017) goes on to say that if writing skills and arts were taught in schools, more learners would be able to write. In the study of Mabasa and Lumadi (2016), it is argued that teachers do assign tasks to learners to write, but such tasks are not aimed at developing meaningful writing skills.

#### 2.4 THE IMPACT OF CODE SWITCHING ON HOME LANGUAGE AND ENGLISH

#### ADDITIONAL LANGUAGE OR ENGLISH FOREIGN LANGUAGE (EFL).

Ali (2022) explored how essay writing standards are taught to the Malay Home Language. Firstly, he explains that the Malay language curriculum is focused on writing, reading and speaking, but regarding teaching and learning writing, there are enormous challenges. Such challenges are caused by the facts that, learners do not have the knowledge to think for themselves, and they cannot present ideas nor organise them using appropriate language. Thus, he suggests that teachers need to be knowledgeable about essay teaching techniques and writing standards. A writer who collaborates with Ali says that primary school learners should be made aware of and taught about essay types and essay writing standards, than having these skills being taught in Grades four (4) and six (6). When learners reach the upper grades where the curriculum requires them to learn essay writing skills, they make countless mistakes (Ali, 2022).

Ali (2022) claims that learning writing in a first language is not as difficult for learners as it is in a second language. In agreement, Arianti (2017) says that learners who are learning and being taught English as a Foreign Language (EFL) encounter difficulties in writing essays because of language use, imaginative levels and psychological problems they have. Ariyanti (2017) goes on to say that it is important to assess the level of learners' essay writing skills in two aspects, namely, the productive skills and the creative skills. Productivity is focused on corrections for spelling errors, misuse of punctuations and learners' writing. On the other hand, creativity focuses on how learners develop the skills of presenting facts, and how they link facts to form a complete text.

According to Chandra (2018), learners fail to develop writing skills because they are unable to speak the language in which they write. Chandra explains that the element of writing has various skills, requirements and rules that the learners must know and produce in order to become proficient writers. For example, using punctuation marks, writing meaningful sentences, using nouns, verbs, and conjunctions in sentences, are common skills required in writing, and yet very challenging for most learners. This aligns with the argument of Ariyanti (2017) who stated that the problem in the writing phase is the use of vocabulary and language rules, as well as the use of idioms and metaphors. Thus, the main point on which both authors agree is that writing is difficult for learners because they lack vocabulary, hence some of them use non-mother tongue words when writing essays. Given the shortfall of not being able to write in the Home Language, it is not surprising that most learners also struggle to express themselves effectively through writing in the First Additional Language.

Gong (2018), explains that Chinese students whose Home Language is English lack writing skills in this language (Chinese). He further says that for students who are of Chinese heritage - Singaporean status, their writing in this language (Chinese) is really worrisome. This is because the Chinese learners have difficulty learning Chinese Home Language writing skills. The study of Gong (2018) focuses on how teachers teach writing skills in schools and found that there are teachers who lack the skills of teaching text interpretation and comprehension. This was found to affect learners' writing skills, and to a certain degree, their reading skills. These days, people use many methods of communication such as emails and text messages, the old methods of sending a message by gender or by wallpaper no longer work. This means that learners need to have writing skills, and teachers need to therefore enhance the levels and stages of learners' writing (Gong, 2018).

Akram (2020) expresses agreement with Gong (2018) that learners have difficulties in understanding and writing essays. However, he presents his other side that, the problem with essay writing skills is that experts and linguists do not ensure that learners are taught language from an early age. Early language learning can enable learners to write and interpret texts using other languages. In this passage, Akram expresses his opposing view to Chandra (2018) who says that English creates problems for the use of Sepedi Home Language, especially in writing and reading. Akram (2020) says that if learners are fluent in speaking, writing, and reading English it will be easier for them to understand and write in other languages. He points out that students develop by writing compared to reading and speaking.

According to Bulgiyan (2021), essay writing is a foundation that is used in all fields of education, it can promote and support writing standards. He points out that this helps learners to improve their social status in the world, as it is important to be able to write and to ensure the status of communications in the world. However he does point out that students in higher education (universities) are faced with failure of language translation, creativity, writing standards as well problems associated with the use of different languages.

An important teaching skill is the ability to transfer knowledge to students in a clear and efficient manner. As such, code-switching can be a useful tool in the classroom for both teachers and students (Ustunel, 2016). Code-switching may also be used to reinforce an idea, or to add more sense to a phrase. In bilingual communities around the world, speakers consistently switch from one language to another to meet communication demands. This notion of alternation between languages is known as code-switching. Code-switching is significantly the notion that any given person uses a variety of speech depending on the social setting that he or she is in. Code-switching is an exercise that every single person does, even if he or she is not aware that it is being done.

Scholars utilise different names for different types of code-switching. Intersectional switching occurs outside the sentence or the clause level. Tag-switching is the switching of either a tag phrase or a word. Intra-word switching occurs within a word itself, such as at a morpheme boundary. Most code-switching studies primarily focus on intra-sentential switching, as it creates many hybrid grammar structures that require explanation. The other types involve utterances that simply follow the grammar of one language or the other. Intra-sentential switching can be alternational or insertional. In alternational code-switching, a new grammar emerges which is a combination of the grammars of the two languages involved. Code-switching relates to, and sometimes indexes social-group membership in bilingual and multilingual communities (Algarin-Ruiz, 2014).

Most speakers often utilise more than one code and need a selected code whenever they choose to speak with other people. The idea of people having more than one code (language) is called bilingualism or multilingualism (Hopewell & Gonzalez, 2019). According the researchers, code is a particular dialect or language which is chosen on any given occasion and the communication system used between two or more parties. Code as a language, implies the system agreed by people to communicate with one another. It refers to a language that is used by bilingual or multilingual members of the society. However, code as a variety of language refers to style shifting in one language.

Some may suggest that code-switching can be used for self-expression and is a way of modifying language in respect of personal intentions. Code-switching may be utilised to construct good relationships among members of a bilingual community. For instance, a person conversing with a friend might say "I am going to buy (*dijo*)", and

the friend may reply and say "Ok, (*le nna*)". Following this example and conversation, it is observed that the speakers have code-switched from English to Sepedi, as the word *dijo* means food in Sepedi language.

There is a need and necessity to keep in mind that a language classroom is a social setting. Thus, an idea attached to naturally occurring daily discourse of any social group has the capacity to be applicable to and valid for any language classroom. French (2018) asserts that context may also require for the use of code switching because it is deemed the most perfect and most acceptable tool to use. The teachers' use of code switching is not always performed consciously, which means that the teacher is not always aware of the functions and outcomes of the code-switching process. The use of code switching, therefore, is a conscious choice, especially because speakers are aware of the social consequences of this certain action, thus, in some cases it may be considered as an automatic and unconscious behaviour.

The study of French (2018) interviewed teachers and revealed that they did not have an alternative but to code switch so as for pupils to grasp what was being taught. Myers (2020) found that for children just like for adults code-switching was about communicative competence and about maintaining a sense of control in a conversation, not implying lack of language proficiency. Numerous studies have shown that code-switching benefited learners and educators. Such studies also maintain that classroom codes-switching should not be prohibited; this is due to the obvious benefits that code-switching renders to learning. Considering this, codeswitching stands to be an aiding element in communication of information and in social interaction or engagement. Thus, it serves for communicative purposes in that it is used as a tool for transference of meaning.

According to French (2018), code-switching assists to improve class participation by inducing a relaxed class atmosphere that permits learners to perform much better. Syam, Sangkala and Syarif (2018) concurs with French that code-switching can reduce the effective filter, and this eventually establishes rapport and establishes an environment of informality in the classroom between the teachers and learners assisting in a more democratic and critical learning surrounding for the learners. Furthermore, Lee (2010) confirms that the discourse (code-switching) used by the learners outside the classroom should be allowed in classroom discussions because it enables learners to contribute in the discussions and bridges any social and cultural gap.

Hussein, Saed and Haider (2020) argue that the use of code-switching in a bilingual classroom fulfils a pedagogical function when it makes a challenging subject matter comprehensible to learners. In simple terms, the use of code-switching in a bilingual classroom appears to be advantageous because it assists in explaining abstract concepts and in defining challenging terms to learners. This implies that code-switching makes explanations easy for learners to understand. Code-switching assists learners to communicate easily with one another and in the classroom. It assists learners to understand lesson content and to seek clarity pertaining some concepts. It also aids the learners to bridge communication gaps in the classroom. The use of code-switching in a bilingual classroom assists in the modification of classroom atmosphere.

Shafie and Nayan (2013) affirm that teachers' practices of code-switching were found to negatively affect learning. In their analysis, they reveal that teachers' code-switching confuse learners and impacted negatively on lesson comprehension. Briefly, learners whose educators discussed and explained with less disruption like code-switching, and marked definitions obtained better grades. Furthermore, negative views on code-switching continue to give teachers, administrators, and parents a cause for concern. Farrier (2017) explains that most parents are worried about their children's language development. According to Lin (2013), many multilingual speakers believe that code-switching is a sign of linguistic weakness or inadequacy, and many bilingual teachers work hard to fight code-switching when it occurs in their classrooms, while it is regarded as a source of trouble only when one party is not used to the meanings of the words or phrases used in all languages.

According to Young and Barrett (2018), code-meshing and code-switching have helped many educators and learners around schools especially with intergrading foreign language in teaching and learning. Furthermore, they assert that code switching and meshing gives allowance to learners to make use of standardised English and other languages for formal academic writing and classroom discussions.

The systematic and purposeful code-switching pedagogical strategy was not only a useful basis for promoting student's bilingual scientific writing but also a valuable way for students to gain confidence in their foreign language written skills (Archila, 2021). Code-switching is a method of switching between languages which useful in helping learners to write in foreign and domestic languages.

According to Lee (2010), teachers need code-switching as a tool to enhance their classroom interactions. Some of the learners require deep understanding of what is being taught. This is where teachers need to use code-switching and code-matching methods between streams of languages, especially when writing in foreign language. Code-switching with Home Language makes learning easy.

#### 2.5 WRITING STANDARD PROCESS

According to Zakime (2018), the writing standards process is a method of teaching writing that allows the teacher and learner to evaluate the writing standards until they produce a text that is appropriate. The writing standard process also allows learners the opportunity to review, write, multiply, and present proposals and to receive information about what they have drawn before rewriting. Just like when writing essays, all the steps of the writing process need to be followed before the complete text of the essay can be presented. For example, those steps will be followed by: data collection, and reflection on what to write about, organizing the material to write about. According to Bulquiyah (2021), the methods teachers use can change the attitudes and perspectives of students to the level of proficiency. What he points out is that the standard of essay writing is poor because learners do not care about the techniques of writing and presentation skills. As already explained, the issue of writing is very difficult when it comes to the field of English subject, even if it is the language chosen or to be communicated worldwide.

Melissorgou and Frantz (2015) explain that university students have difficulties with the writing standard system especially focused on writing essays. The difficulties learners experience are caused by lack of vocabulary and language use. In the Scheswig Hostein curriculum, it is indicated that learners should not only know the levels and types of essays but should also know and be able to write a variety of essays (Institute for Quality Development in Schools of Scheleswig, Holstein, 2014). From the English language curriculum in Canto Basel, when learners reach the level of completing the upper grade (matric), they should be able to write and produce essays and other assigned texts and demonstrate the ability to composed meaningful ideas through writing (Educational Department of the State of Basel, 2017).

Gong (2018) explains that some textual complexities are those that come from the writing process. For example, learners have been taught to write under a set time, and when the time is up, they are deprived of their writings. They are thus propelled to

improve their writing skills and to correct themselves. Gong (2018) further says that when teachers mark long questions, they look at language production and ignore content and point planning. He also explains that the information the teachers provide is irrelevant and useless to the learners, as it is will be misunderstood by learners. Thus, Eminli (2019) is of the view that curriculum developers must address the complexities of writing by guiding teachers through teaching strategies that can be used alongside the ones articulated in the curriculum. Eminli (2019) concludes that although learners know how to write, it is the responsibility of teachers to teach learners all the skills of writing essays.

#### 2.6 THE VALUE OF MOTHER TONGUE IN EDUCATION

South Africa is a free country in which its citizens have the right to speak or communicate freely in any language without making insulting or oppressive remarks. English language is the legal language for use by the whole community when communicating. It is a common language used in South Africa to ensure harmony and understanding among people who speak different languages. Thus, it dominates South Africa to the extent that it diminishes and undermines the value and authenticity of Sepedi language and other indigenous languages. However, young people, children and adults are gradually turning away from the English language. The heritage and value of the English language is vanishing. This is what brings about the decline of the English language nerves in schools as classroom interaction are not done in English language. Learning Sepedi and speaking Sepedi does not have to be embarrassing and is a legacy that should be embraced by Bapedi, and the practices of codeswitching seem to be directed to the effort of embracing indigenous languages in learning and teaching.

Kretzer and Kaschula (2019) explains that according to the South African Official Languages Act, schools must choose the Language of Learning and Teaching, and most usually use English or Afrikaans as LOLT and the language of the community in which the school is located as a Home Language. As for the African indigenous languages, they are taught as one of the subjects and are rarely allowed to be used as a means of communication in schools. In addition, Makgai (2016: pp) indicates that "Sepedi as a Home Language, for various children, is supposed to be laying a foundation for learners regarding literacy skills such as being able to read and write in the Sepedi Home Language. As of now, that is not the case for various reasons, one

of which is that, the manner of offering Sepedi in the Intermediate Phase is greatly influenced by the way English is taught to learners at that phase and other phases".

## 2.7 THE INFLUENCE OF CURRICULUM ON SEPEDI AS A HOME LANGUAGE

South Africa has gone through processes of curriculum change such as moving from Outcome Based Education (OBE) which was introduced after the Bantu Education (BE), to Curriculum 2005 (C2005), and later to the Revised National Curriculum Statement (RNCS) and lastly to Curriculum Assessment Policy Statement (CAPS). These changes were intended to improve learning and teaching challenges and improve the education standards of South African citizens. However, Sepedi Home Language learners still face challenges, mostly in the part of writing focusing on Paper three (P3), which comprises of longer and shorter essays. So far, through the changes of various curricula, little has been done to improve the standard of essay writing in Sepedi Home Language. Maledu & Nkgapele (2021) indicate that curriculum change was effected for all the subjects including Sepedi (HL) and the change for Sepedi went from bad to worse with the exclusion of grammar as a skill, whereas it is the core of the language, instead it is said that it should be integrated within the three skills such as reading and viewing, writing and presenting, speaking and listening, to which Sepedi (HL) educators still find it difficult to comprehend and adjust to.

# 2.8 THE STATUS OF LANGUAGE OF LEARNING AND TEACHING (LOLT) IN SOUTH AFRICAN PUBLIC SCHOOLS

The national curriculum statement (NCS) promotes the significance and value of African languages to be integrated in schools. This is to indicate that all learners under the language policy of South Africa are to learn their home languages and be taught one additional language as early as Grade 1. On the other hand, it is shown that every learner must have studied, and been taught in an African language for a minimum of three years in the General Education Training (GET) band. This explains that one of those African languages should be a home language. It remains a questionable event that if learners are to be taught in their home languages for the given number of years it will not yield visible evidence of improvement in writing, especially in Grade 10.

According to the Department of Basic Education (2010), court cases in relation to the language policy in schools implicated the language policy in the following manner: "the

court judgements confirmed the importance of ensuring that learners are given the choice of their home language as the Language of Teaching and Learning (LOTL) or as an additional language. In recognising the right of a learner to receive education in an official language or in a language of one's choice, the state is duty-bound to ensure effective access to their right to be taught in the language of one's choice.

The reason Sepedi essay writing has become challenging to learners is because native languages such as Sepedi are not generally perceived as dominant. Sepedi language is affected by parental preferences, tradition, and capacity. Sepedi language is not favoured as a Language of Learning and Teaching mainly because; it is not associated with economic growth; it is not a global language; it is not useful for future studies as tertiary tend to be offered in English, except in cases of language education under school of education in tertiary institutions; and it is not a common language in the working environment.

## 2.9 LANGUAGE IN SOUTH AFRICAN SCHOOLS

Home languages open doors to learning other languages much easier. This implies that supporting learners' essay writing in Sepedi Home Language can improve their cognitive and language development and aid the acquisition of other languages. Writes (2022) states that "The South African constitution guarantees learners the right to receive education in the language of their choice. Most current research suggests that learners entering school can learn best through their mother-tongue, and that a second language such as (English) is more easily acquired if the learner already has a firm grasp of his or her Home Language". Writes (2022) further emphasises that the poor education performance in South African schools is a quarter of African language learners, and some learners who manage to enter schools are not able to make it to matric level, and the problem to this seems to be the current practice of English as the initial Language of Learning and Teaching". Segabutla and Evans (2019) argues that the effectiveness of Sepedi writing relies on educators being familiar with the language verbally and non-verbally in their communication with the learners because if the educators do not master Sepedi, teaching may not be facilitated successfully.

## 2.10 GUIDELINES OF WRITING DIFFERENT TYPES OF ESSAYS IN CLASSROOM

## IN ACCORDANCE WITH SEPEDI LANGUAGE

Based on the teaching guidelines for essay writing and collaborative works, the various categories in which essays must be taught are as follows:

Маето	Mphato wa 10	Mphato wa 11	Mphato wa 12
Leleme la Gae	300-350	350-400	400-450
Lelemetlaleletṡo la Pele	150-200	200-250	250-300
Lelemetlaleletṡo la Bobedi	150-200	180-200	200-250

The above content of the Home Language requires more words than is seen when Sepedi is taught as a First and Second Additional Language. Home language content from Grade 10 to Grade 12 requires more writing.

According to the literature teaching guidelines of 2018, the format of an essay should adhere to the following guidelines:

- Start your essay by heart
- Follow the planning and mind map
- A mind map helps to organize details
- When creating a mind map consider the following points

## Introduction

Under the introduction, describe the theme or topic

## Body

- Under the body, state the points that will appear in your essay
- Provide a few details that will enable the essay to be judged as an adolescent or advanced essay

- Write an essay in paragraph form
- Paragraphs should be composed of short and long words only
- Pay attention to your use of punctuation
- Spelling should be correct
- Language should be acceptable

## Conclusion

- The conclusion indicates suggestions or ideas
- Take the author's position. For example, criticise, warn or come up with a solution

## 2.12 SOCIAL MEDIA AND THE SKILLS OF ESSAY WRITING

According to Surut (2014), learners lack procedural knowledge, this is seen in some of their essay writings introductions as they fail to produce meaningful sentences. In addition, learners fail to use declarative knowledge to explain ideas. Songxaba (2019) indicates that social media, particularly WhatsApp, has a very massive effect on learners' writing skills. It is highlighted that social media is now part of each and every one of us and it has even become the norm of everyday speedy communication method. However, as much as it is helpful and entertaining, it can also harm children's education. For example, most learners are no longer able to structure standardized essays because their method of writing has changed due to social media writings. Essay writing skills are affected by abbreviated method of writing on social media, and the unnecessarily shortened words and use of numbers instead of the complete word form.

According to Asare (2022), when people write individually, social media does have much impact on their formal writing. Learners who work in groups are not mainly affected by social media. Furthermore Asare (2022) says that learners use social media lingo such as clipping, abbreviation, alphanumeric homophony, vowel deletion, grapheme and other slang terms; people, societies and learners use social media or internet language when they communicate in order to fasten the speed of their conversation and make communication easier". In the case of mass communication of students, social media does not have much overwhelming influence as associated with the writing competence of undergraduate students. Among all types of social media chat language, graphemes rank highest in use among the study population (Salaudeen, 2019). It is further indicated that there are phenomena on social media that affect writing competence among undergraduate students, such as training for writing. The above case stands to prove that writing has a very long hard knot of rope that needs to be tackled. However, such challenges can be solved in the early years before learners get destroyed or polluted by social media.

Majority of the learners dwell deeper into the tags or language of social media usage, which is a language that cannot be found among the official matrix of standard English (SE); instead the young stars have resorted to the usage of social media tags such as "U" for "YOU", "GR8T" for "GREAT", "UR or URS" for "YOUR or YOURS. These patterns have crept into their everyday writing consciousness in classes and examinations (Omoera, Stevenson & Omluranti, 2018). Furthermore, this development is seen to have serious implications for effective and efficient writing among Nigerian youths especially in formal situations.

Shahzadi and Kausar (2020) indicate that there is positivity and a room for quality improvement of writing skills. It is indicated that social media can be used as a discussion forum so to help with improvement of writing skills. Moreover, this particular study proves that social media is not at all that bad but can create room for improvement of writing. The major concern is how it is used by the students or learners. Furthermore, they state that most of the students were of the view that it is a new experience of learning writing by engaging in discussion with the peers and teachers through Facebook.

In the system of Malaysian education, the English language curriculum for primary schools aims to develop learner's ability to write different types of texts using appropriate language, style, and form through the use of various media. Summative assessment writing is tested as one of the compulsory subjects in the national examination, primary school assessment test for the grade 6 learners, however it is argued that the proficiency of English among Malaysian learners is on the decline despite learning English as a second language for at least six years at the primary

level and yet they are still weak in English, especially the writing skills (Chan, Melor & Maslawati, 2018).

In the study of Suhaimi, Mohamadi and Yamat (2019), it was stated that the movement of social media, especially WhatsApp, has significantly improved 75% of the participants' vocabulary, while grammar had no effect as one participant represented 12% of those who indicated improvement. Bataineh (2018), explains that a WhatsApp instruction platform could be a good form of improvement of writing performance particularly regarding content, ideas, organisation and mechanics, vocabulary, and language use. Vikneswaran and Krish (2016) adds that with the forever evolving and improving technology around the world, writing is no longer just part and parcel of the classroom as internet is within the learner's reach. Thus, online writing is a new method that needs to be implemented to enhance students to writing skills. The use of technology is writing tasks make students to write better in English owing to the exchanges of feedback and ideas that took place through the social networking site.

Che Wil, Yunus and Suliman (2019) explains that writing needs to go hand-in-hand with the line of mastering aromatically rules and vocabulary and writing is mostly encouraged by what a learner knows or masters, i.e., grammar and vocabulary; as such knowledge helps the learner to have confidence than a learner who has no good vocabulary and grammar. Furthermore they state that writing is an important skill in language production unfortunately it is considered as the most difficult skill to be developed by learner especially secondary school pupils. Writing is the hardest skill to comprehend or learn since it requires major usage of knowledge better than listening, speaking and reading.

Educators can teach learners easily and efficiently through mobile learning, the shared techniques of writing activities are brainstorming, group drafting, teacher's feedback, starter, quick writing, peer feedback and information gathering elaboration exercises, checklist these techniques can be used through WhatsApp (Susanti & Tarmuji, 2016).

#### 2.13 ESSAY WRITING IN SCHOOLS

The use of correct grammar and mastering content is said to be the greatest challenges learners face in learning essay writing skills, and that this challenges are the ones that lead learners to achieving low in essay writing. It is further elaborated that this is caused by educators who use expository teaching methods and this kind

of method limit learners (Nyanga'u, 2014). Furthermore Nyanga'u states that educators of language should lay emphasis on enhancing communicative competence in essay writing among learners and this could be done through exposing learners to good samples of writing using process-based approaches such as group discussions, role play, brainstorming, peer editing and debates in the teaching of writing skills".

According to Mwangi (2016), the ability to write or writing skills is a great development and contribute improvement to the development of language and academic success to all learners in all the levels of the education sector, even though the ability to achieve competence in writing is essential to language development, majority of students at the university have challenges with their academic writing skills. Through the study of Mutimani (2016), it is shown that the academic obstacles that learners have concerning writing are linked to the consequences of the linguistic and general literacy backgrounds, their attitudes towards academic writing and the privileging of middleclass literacy practices. It is also shown that to overcome these challenges strategies such as the following will have to be implemented accordingly. The integration of academic literacies in the curricula of all disciplines, the promotion multimodal teaching strategies and assessment as well as collaboration between language lectures and educators and the core course specialists. Mutimani (2016) further says that it requires intensive academic reading and writing workshops and formative feedback to ensure the success of the above-mentioned strategies.

Seyabi and Tuzlukova (2014) in their findings regarding writing problems state that many of school and university students struggle with lexical and content aspects of writing, however university students' perceptions of the kind of problems they encounter and of the strategies to address them are more assertive. The suggestion is that the problem of writing should be dealt with properly at lower classes and throughout high school phases before learners embark into tertiary level.

Students have to improve their consistency on writing and regularly paraphrasing meanings as well as implementing strategies that show that academic writing reveals the linguistics problems. Writing is an essential instrument of development of language and covers all aspects of learning areas with other subjects involved, even though it is essential students face turbulent issues concerning writing such as the use of articles, punctuations, the use of prepositions, the use of irregular verbs, weak expressions, singular plural and unparalleled structure as well as consistency and verb tense" (AL Mubarak, 2017: pp). It is further noticed that students in universities

struggle to incorporate or use the scholarly articles as result of poor writing skills such punctuation which is the most crucial part of academic writing and limited grammar. As this is mostly a case in university level, it is found that the problem is caused by teaching and learning that focuses on content subjects and side-lining the language skills techniques.

According to Wright, Hodges and Mctigu (2019), students' low writing performance can be associated with problems of lack of motivation. It is realised that adolescents in high schools tend to struggle the most as they are battling with motivation. Their writing outcomes are mostly determined and influenced by self-beliefs and writing beliefs. Thus, majority of them are not motivated to engage in writing nor to follow the needed structures of writing. Adolescents are hard to keep engaged in academics, especially in the field of enhancing skills and development of language use.

The learner's motives to write comes from curiosity and that the weakest motives to write without differences among the learners, were believed to be from boredom, social recognition, emotional regulation and competition. It is further stated that the most reported reasons for writing is to improve one's grades in schools and extrinsic motivation for learners to think and write about interesting topics using intrinsic motivation. Learners' readiness to initiate writing activities is not only dependent upon external rewards that results from the task rather upon the satisfying nature of the task itself, but frequent writing may also boost competence by increasing knowledge and fluency in the enactment of writing processes (Rocha, Filip, Magalhaes, Graham & Limpo, 2019).

Soyla (2017) states that for learners, writing is considered passive. It is regarded to be a task so external to perform in class. Majority of learners have not yet comprehended the idea that writing skills goes beyond the classroom environment. It is a skill to carry right through all levels of education. Relatively, Smedt (2018) points out that cognitive and motivational challenges are at the root of the basic level of elementary learners' writing performance.

## 2.14 THE STANDARD OF WRITING SENTENCES IN ESSAYS

Putrayasa (2019) asserts that students often have difficulty composing sentences because their sentences are not put together and are unclear, and there is no unity of ideas nor good structure of the sentences, hence the ideas conveyed cannot be

understood. Sentences are very important to be understood and mastered when presenting ideas, both orally and in writing. In addition to that, Dewa, Putruyasa, Putru and Aryana (2018) Indicate that students or learners are not able to differentiate among their sentence writing of their essays. There is no differentiation between the content carried in sentences, the number of clauses, the predicate formers as well as the nature of actor-action relationship. This is a bright indication that learners do not pay much attention to their sentence construction and writing of effective sentences. It is clear that learners are passive and lack of creativity and thinking.

Widiastuti, Mantra and Murtini (2020) mentions that pre-service educators need to be well trained in the cases of writing because writing is complex. Thus, teachers need to understand what they teach, especially in the construction of sentence in essay writing lessons. It is further explained that writing is a complex process which involves putting ideas together and organising the grammatical sentences into written statements to communicate. Mulian, Norahmi and Asi (2019) indicates that learners face various challenges regarding writing narrative texts. Majority of learners seem to have issues with language usage when writing narrative essays. This includes complexities such as using past tenses, nouns, pronouns, verbal processes and direct speech.

The prime of the problems for the students is lack of writer motivations as well as awkward structure and grammatical problems, not forgetting that major issue is with writing their thesis statements and problems with content word choices". In this context, the success of writing relies on the excellence of grammar, punctuation, proper sentencing, and formulation of ideas (Oktavianti, 2021). To support the above statement, Friani (2019) asserts that students have issues when it comes to writing because they are not able to distinguish between slots of writing texts or essay types. The barrier for them is narrative essays. The students do not understand the requirements of the narrative texts or essays. It is further indicated that students have difficulty with using different tenses and spelling and making use of correct punctuation marks.

In the study of Dewi (2019), it is elaborated that writing has many issues attached to it and that is also a foundation that needs so many building blocks, such as overcoming the difficulties of proper sentencing in fragmented sentences. This, in so many cases, is influenced by the lack of understanding of grammatical rules. Furthermore, it is also indicated that language difference and code switching between Home Language and Language of Learning and Teaching comes with a lot a friction when writing. Pestaria, Sinurat and Napitupulu (2014) indicates that as much as writing is the responsibility of students, it is the responsibility of the educator to teach, assess and explain generic structure and significant lexico-grammatical features to making understanding of learners easier. The topic requirement of activities especially when writing essays should be clearly explained. It is always an educator's duty to give feedback to the learners on whatever task that is done. Sari (2017) supports by saying that learners require much basic skills to develop their writing comprehension, with the focus on resolving issues or difficulties with writing problems, writing analysis as well as recount text. It is further explained that students' writing problems in recount text is covering capitalization, punctuation, inexplicitness, fuzziness, poor organization or logical sequence, spelling and grammatical errors".

Persistent issues with students writing has to do with constructing thesis statements, organising paragraph, making writing coherent as well as putting or adding correct ideas in sentences. It is also highly proper for educators to continue searching and exploring on techniques of overcoming difficulties of writing. Further, it is also very important for learners to be taught and trained on how to be creative enough to develop their own original ideas (Saprina, Rosyid & Suryanti, 2021). The organisation of students' essay writing was lineally fashioned with cause and effect and comparison and contrast methods were dominantly organised. On the other hand, students are struggling with idea development, organization as well as language aspect of writing" (Asari & Marul 2022: pp). It is further indicated that whenever students are left to an essays topic, they are very much able to come up with ideas and determine or formulate proper method of essay organisation; and by so doing, they will reduce problems that they come across during writing. Furthermore, Asari and Marul (2022) mentions that advancing an academic essay needs a whole set of different skills of organisation of writing because of the regulations of language used.

According to Song, Liu and Fu (2016), the engagement of using similar words, clauses, phrases, sentences structure and other grammatical elements to emphasise similar ideas in a sentence while writing essays is essential. Parallelism is much active and effective in argumentative essays than in narrative essay. Rahma and Rosa (2021), state that the students have a very good potential percentage of sentence writing especially when it comes to the part of writing compound-complex sentence. However, it does not end right there, the issue is when writing shifts to the corner of punctuation more especially making use of commas, lack of verbs in the compound-

complex sentences is often seen. It is always advisable for educators to give feedback to learners after such tasks have been written. In so doing, grammar and writing will be tackled altogether.

In his study, Nor (2018) mentions that students are very active through the teaching and learning of goggle classroom, and that the students in this particular learning environment are able to become very active and are very much in anticipation to write the essays without hesitation. The students are not passive. Rather, they are engaged in learning. This is shown by the fact that they do not pull back when it comes to showing their ideas, opinions and thoughts. Their writing of assignments and essays has improved through the use of goggle classroom.

According to Rahaman (2020) the writers' preferences of hook sentences are all related to theme of the essay with long sentences. Most of them use narrative hook as an opener, and short sentences as suggested, tend to not be found with hooks. This is not convention among writers. Kumar, Mathias, Saha and Bahattacharyya (2021) indicates that the manner in which essays are scored has an impact and huge effect on the students or learners. The manner in which an essay is scored can either assist the learner to understand requirements of essay much better or worsen the state of things for the learner. Kumar, et al, (2021) further mention two types of scoring: holistic scoring and primarily trait scoring. Primarily trait scoring does not share much light on correcting the learners and giving feedback, it is precisely too summarised. On one hand, holistic scoring shares in depth results of what is actually marked or scored. Through it learners are able to understand very much what is required of them and what to correct and how to correct on their essays.

For effective writing of essays and compositions to take place, the students require the basic knowledge of words, phrases, clauses and sentences and how these elements are combined systematically to produce meaningful and interesting essay (Ukaegbu, Umar & Mohammed, 2019). It is further indicated that there are sufficient and effective strategies of enhancing teaching and learning of essay writing such as the Sentences Combining (SC) strategy. This particular strategy has proven to be effective, as there is "mean gain of students across ability levels. There are clear patterns in the types and frequency of complex sentences used by students, which namely have implications for the design of the curriculum as well as the teaching and learning writing essays (Nhan & Lap, 2023). It is further elaborated that creating environments for learning and teaching can enhance the structuring of essays, and

complex sentences structuring can assist learners through peer feedback involvement.

According to Putrayasa and Ramendra (2021) the sentences written in types of essays can vary according to division of sentences being "the numbers of clauses", "compound sentences", "internal structure" of the main clause and "complete sentences" in line with the essay structure. This is a complete indication that reading and counting are necessary as thay help the learners with structuring of their written essays.

According to Teft (2016), writing is always considered difficult especially when it is done between native language and English as additional language. It is not always easy to write English because it is foreign language to most learners. As much as writing can be used to describe or demonstrate peoples thoughts, feelings and opinions, learners are facing extreme issues of writing especially grammatical problems such as fragment sentencing, the errors of subject verb agreement as well as errors in using coordinating conjunctions. Indirect Corrective Feedback (ICF) is indicated to be essential in improving and developing the quality and standard of teaching and learning through the structure, organisation, supporting ideas, coherence and conclusion structuring. This method indirectly influences self-correction among peers. It is further said that automatic essay feedback generation is a challenging task, which requires understanding the relationship between the text features of the essay and feedback (Liu, Li, Xu & Liu, 2016). In his findings, Widayanti and Ega (2021) mention that consistent issues relating to essay writing in the classroom are language usage, mechanics, content, organization and vocabulary. Furthermore, it is realised that solutions to the issues of essay writing in classroom come from integrating with internet so to access many sources, dictionary usage as well as practicing writing more often.

#### 2.17 CONCLUSION

From the literature reviewed, it is clear that writing is a global problem. Most authors cited above, have focused on writing in an additional language in different countries. However, their findings stipulated that there is lack of planning for essay writing which is a challenge for most teachers and learners. The reviewed literature are relevant to the topic of this study, as they revealed problems that the learners have regarding essay writing. A funnel method was used to select and collect the data that support

this research for literature review purposes. The next chapter presents research methodology.

#### CHAPTER THREE

#### **RESEARCH DESIGN AND METHODOLOGY**

#### **3.1 INTRODUCTION**

The previous chapter discussed the literature review and reported the findings of other studies related to the title of the current study. This chapter discusses the methods that were used explore the title of this study to fill up the gap identified in the problem statement as well as in chapter 2 of this study. Thus, this chapter discusses procedures of research planning, data identification, data collection, data analysis, qualitative research attributes, the significance of the study, as well as ethical considerations.

Research is a way of discovering and exploring solutions to problems that affect people or an event. However, a legitimate investigation is one that follows the appropriate steps that are tailored at addressing the identified problem through a specific methodology. Therefore, research methodology is related to research planning, followed by other processes such as data identification, data collection, data analysis, qualitative characteristics, research significance as well as respect and care for humanity and moral (Makhubela, 2019). Research method enables the researcher to gain deeper understanding of a particular problem. It enables a researcher to produce components and relationships that address the research aim, objectives and questions (Makhubela, 2019). "A research productivity methodology is a tool that researchers use to organise, collect, evaluate and interpret information" (Maledu, 2021: pp).

#### 3.2 RESEARCH PLANNING/ THEORETICAL FRAMEWORK

The research plan is developed by the research methodology. In order to have a map of presenting research, it is important for the researcher to identify a suitable methodology to address the research questions. According to Makgai (2015), research planning is an important element in any research phase, as it is an indicator of the analysis of the research process. Regarding this indicator, Creswell (2014) explains that research planning is a respectable and appropriate way to investigate and employ or gain understanding of a problem and complex issues in the world. The main point of research planning is to ensure that the research materials are directly aimed at solving the research problem and that they are not deviant from the research topic.

This study focused primarily on the qualitative approach, which according to Mohajan (2018), is a traditional approach to using words rather than numbers or statistics. Walia (2015) concurs with Mohajan (2018) when stating that, qualitative methodology focuses on the use of words rather than numbers, and it interprets situations in such a way that they will be understandable to people in their context of life. This research methodology was applicable in this study as it enabled the researcher to conduct observations and work with learners and teachers in a dialogical manner. Thus, the researcher used the above qualitative data collection methods to explore challenges of essay writing in a selected school.

The research field method is a research planning method that works to interpret and present evidence about a particular phenomenon (Alharahshen, 2020). Njie (2014) claims that the research setting is a research planning aspect that presents facts clearly and in-depth to explain things in people's real places of existence. In addition, Yanow (2014), explains that an interpretive method is a method designed to interpret texts and bring meaning to concepts. The interpretive method is a method that can work in several ways in terms of the use of narrative and the use of texts and products (Nickerson, 2022). Thus, the current researcher used the interpretative method to analyse the essay texts written by the learners to identify the obstacles and weaknesses of essays writing in Grade 10 of the selected secondary school.

#### **3.2.1 THE RESEARCH METHOD**

This study used qualitative methodology to explore the challenges that Grade 10 learners experienced when writing Sepedi Home Language essays. The researcher examined factors that prevent learners from following the standards and planning guidelines of the essay writing process. This research also explored the written product method as a possible solution to the problems learners encounter when writing essays using process writing approach. Gary (2014) explains that qualitative research involves visualising and interviewing stakeholders within the research and interviewing them in their authentic spaces of existence, i.e., the context in which they live. The pursuit is to find facts that will be used as evidence to bring the matter to light (Gary, 2014).

The qualitative methodology provides ways for the researcher to gain knowledge about the research participants by identifying their lifestyle and their daily needs. Thus, it requires the researcher to set aside their views or opinions and focus on what the participants say or experience. According to Gary (2014), this methodology is effective for ensuring validity and reliability when the researcher's emotional or personal perspectives do not interfere with those of the participants.

### 3.2.2 Stakeholder identification

Stakeholder identification refers to the actors or builders who help to achieve the truth and solutions of the research. Stakeholders can be the tools or materials of the research (Gary, 2014). However, the most important sources of information in this research were people. The research team or the participants of this research were learners and teachers in the Sepedi Home Language classroom. Thus, this research used intentional identification to identify relevant stakeholders.

### 3.2.2.1 Intentional identification

This key identification is relevant because it supports the selected group, namely teachers and learners from Mankweng Turfloop. Purposeful identification is defined as the method by which a researcher addresses a large group of potential participants, and uses to identify a reasonable number of participants to involve in their study. Therefore, this method of identification was directly relevant to this research as it helped the researcher to nominate six (6) learners and two teachers to participate in the study. The teacher assisted the researcher by presenting the six learners according to the cognate level, i.e., high, average and below-average performing learners.

### 3.2.3 DATA COLLECTION

Data collection is a method used to gather information from various sources, the aim of which is to obtain factual evidence in the research (Mohaleamalle, 2019). In addition, Makhubela (2019), says that data collection is a technique that relies on obtaining consent from research participants.

The data for this study were collected with reference to the following elements:

### 3.2.3.1 In the expansion

It is a process of unraveling the feelings and perspectives of stakeholders, in the form of asking questions related to the research problem. This interaction is performed with tools such as voice recorder and field notes. In this study, learners and teachers were asked questions that the researcher had developed. These questions intended to address the problem identified in the research.

### 3.2.3.2 Observations

The researcher in this regard, collected information by visiting the classrooms of the learners and teachers to observe Sepedi HL essay writing lesson. During observations, the researcher looked at the essay writing process Sepedi HL and how the learners participated in the classroom essay writing activities. Thus, this process involved note taking as part of evidence to be used during the reporting stage of this study.

### 3.2.3.3 Documents review

Data collection also involved documents review. The researcher reviewed the learners' essay pages where they were instructed to write narrative essays. Thus, the researcher was able to examine the learners' strengths and weaknesses regarding Home Language essay writing skills. The researcher used a narrative essay entitled "my first day at school" to assess the learners' essay writing skills. With this type of essay, the researcher succeeded to assess the learners' strengths and weaknesses in terms of sentence formation and paragraph structure. The essays were also assessed and marked based on writing and presentation skills using the hierarchy of the writing process. Thus, the nuisances posed by spelling and paraphrasing errors were also detected from the learners' essays through documents analysis method.

### 3.2.4 ANALYSIS OF DATA

This study followed the thematic approach to analyse data. This approach indicates that the analysis is aimed at evaluating the products or findings of the research from the use of the data, the report, and the documentary data itself (Clarke, 2017). Thematic analysis was a relevant method for this study as it enabled the researcher to present facts and results logically using themes as guidelines of what to discuss in response to research questions.

### 3.2.5. THE IMPORTANCE OF RESEARCH

The importance of this research is that it will present solutions to learning challenges experienced by Sepedi Home Language learners and teacher regarding essay writing

skills. The aspect of writing and presentation skills is considered. This study will lay emphasis on the importance and the need for learners to have good HL writing skills. The study will awaken consciousness of Sepedi speaking people to not allow their language to be overshadowed by English as this will also take away their culture and heritage. Thus, the study will expose learners to various ways of expressing themselves in the HL, especially in writing, to avoid mixing Sepedi with other languages.

This research will help learners and teachers, the education sector, as well as the general public in the following ways:

It research will educate learners and teachers about the importance of Sepedi HL essay writing process in their classrooms. This research will help learners to identify techniques to facilitate the lesson in a way that will be understood. Curriculum developers will be able to identify the problems and obstacles that affect learners' essay writing skills, and develop appropriate intervention mechanism to address the identified challenges. For parents and the community, the study will highlight the importance of reviving the heritage of the Sepedi language in the country, starting in their own communities and schools. The study will make them aware that it is important for their children to be experienced in the language of their culture, especially with writing, as this will help them to learn other languages and cultures with ease.

#### **3.2.6 QUALITY CRITERIA**

This section present the models for proving the quality of the research.

#### 3.2.6.1 To persuade

According to Jacobs and Walker (2014), the researcher accomplishes the persuasiveness of qualitative research by detailing the methods used during the research and having detailed evidence of the information. To accomplish this, the researcher went back to the selected stakeholders and gave them a detailed explanation of how the information they provided was presented and the results of the information from the oral interviews.

### 3.2.6.2 Confirmation

William (2021) points out that the researcher's assumptions and opinions should not influence the results of the research. Thus, the current researcher was successful in visiting Sepedi Home Language teaching professionals. The researcher recorded what was said and brought forward by the stakeholders. For confirmation, the researcher gave them recorded and transcribed information to agree or disagree where they are not satisfied without fear. Thus, researcher frequently visited the recordings and transcripts during analysis to confirm that the analysis corresponds with the recorded opinions expressed by the stakeholders.

### 3.2.6.3 Transferability

It is an evaluation of the results of a qualitative research method to ensure that they can be transferred to other researchers the main purpose being to make the research useful to them. This research can be given to other researchers to check if it is reasonable and useful and easy to use, (Williams. 2021).

### 3.2.6.4 Support

"Support refers to the evaluation of the information provided" (Walker, 2014). After the data analysis process, the researcher went back to the participants to inform them that the data was analysed from the data collected and the researcher did not observe and add or supplement the information. The researcher also checked if the participants were still not emotionally, educationally, physically, or psychologically affected by the study-the aim of which was to find them support for the effects this study might have had on them. Thus, the researcher found that the participants were still in good living.

### 3.2.7 Ethical Consideration

It is the responsibility of the researcher to ensure that the stakeholders are not adversely affected by the research, and this can be ensured by considering the following factors:

#### Request for permission

The researcher asked for permission from the University of Limpopo's Research Department (TREC) to conduct this research. Request was also be made to the school principal, Sepedi Home Language teachers and the parents of the children who participated in the research. Thus, all stakeholders were informed of the purpose of the research and their roles in the study. Application letters are attached at the end of this survey in the appendices.

#### Notification and Consent

Stakeholders were informed of what the research is about and the importance of their participation in the research. Participation was voluntary, and stakeholders had the right to agree or refuse to participate in this study without being intimidated. Participants were given consent forms to complete to indicate that they agree to participate in the study.

#### Confidentiality, anonymity, and respect

The names and information of stakeholders was respected and kept confidential. The collection of information from the stakeholders was done in an anonymous manner. Therefore, the researcher used pseudonyms to identify the participants, e.g., Learner A, Learner B, Learner C, etc. The teachers were also identified as Teacher A and Teacher B.

#### Protection from harm

Participants were promised that they will not be harmed by taking part in this study. That is, this study had no physical or emotional risks that could affect the well-being of the participant. The parents were also informed and assured that their learners will not be at any risk because of this investigation.

### 3.2.8 CONCLUSION

In this chapter, the researcher the discussed the methodology that was followed to advance this research. The methodological and research design aspects were outlined in this chapter, as they are the basis for managing the research. This chapter also discussed the processes that were followed to identify and sample participants to study them in their natural settings. In addition, this chapter discussed how information from various data collection sources has been analysed to arrive at the factual evidence presented in the chapter below. Just like the method of dialogue, narrative, and documentary analysis. Thus, the next chapter presents the findings and analysis of the collected data, following the qualitative method of analysis outline in the ending chapter (chapter 3).

#### CHAPTER FOUR

#### DATA PRESENTATION AND ANALYSIS

#### 4.1. INTRODUCTION

The previous chapter discussed the methodology that was used in the study. The current chapter presents the qualitative research findings addressing the research questions of this study. Data collection is a method used to gather information from various sources, the pursuit being to obtain factual evidence in the research (Mohaleamalle, 2019). "Qualitative data collection is the method, magic and steps to explain and understand all the evidence collected about what is being researched" (Makhubela, 2014: pp). In this chapter, the analysis is concerned with the information gathered from the stakeholders. This information is relevant to the types of essays taught in schools. In this chapter, the researcher describes in detail the results she has gleaned from the stakeholders. Teachers and learners were participants in the discussions, where they shared their experiences regarding essay lessons.

## BIOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION OF EDUCATORS WHO TOOK PART IN THE STUDY

AGE	GENDER	QUALIFICATION	MAJOR	EXPERIENCE
55	Female	BED in language Education and Social Sciences	Sepedi & Geography	30 years
43	Female	BED in language Education	Sepedi &	12 years
		and Life Orientation.	Life	
		Honours in African	Orientation	
		Languages		

The table above explains the biography of educator participants in terms of their age, gender, qualification and experience in the field of education. The participants were two female educators who have shown to be qualified to teach Sepedi Home Language. Teacher A has a degree in education, majoring in language and social sciences, and specialised in Sepedi and Geography. Teacher B majored in language and Life Orientation, and specialised in Sepedi and Life Orientation. Teacher A is 55 years of age, and has 30 years teaching experience of teaching Sepedi HL. Teacher B is only 43 years of age, with 12 years teaching experience.

LEARNERS	AGE	GENDER	HOME LANGUAGE
Learner A	15	Female	Sepedi
Learner B	15	Female	lsizulu
Learner C	17	Male	Selobedu
Learner D	16	Male	Sepedi
Learner E	18	Male	Sebididi
Learner F	14	Female	Sepedi

**BIOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION OF THE LEARNERS** 

The table above shows categories as biographical information of learners who participated in this study. The participants were 6 learners from a class of 94 learners. The learners varied in age, whereby two female learners were aged 15 years and one female was 14 years old. Among the males, their ages ranged from 16, 17 and 18 years old. The learners were chosen according to their category of Home Language differences. Thus, 20% of the learner participants speak Sepedi as Home Language but having some Sepedi dialects as their mother tongue. Further, 70% of the participants were native Sepedi speakers, whereas one learner being 10% of the participants speaks IsiZulu as Home Language but learns Sepedi as a Home Language in school. The above biography of learner participants is a true reflection of the types of learners that were found in a Sepedi HL classroom. Their difference in Home Language gives a highlight that Sepedi HL can pose challenges of reaching ultimate fluency and success in their learning. The language differences and dialects

is what hinders writing in Sepedi writing classrooms because the non-native learners cannot write and master what they cannot speak or the language they do not speak at home.

### 4.1.1 THE TEACHERS' INTERVIEW

The teachers were given a qualitative questionnaire for their respective discussions. The questionnaire included eleven questions about the essays. Through this, the researcher was able to gain information regarding the obstacles that teachers encounter in their classrooms.

### 4.1.1.1 ANALYSIS OF TEACHERS' INTERVIEW RESPONSES

# Question 1: What do you think about the standard process of writing essays in Sepedi classrooms, do you find it challenging?

The researcher wants to establish whether the teachers have the experience and skills to teach the essays.

**Teacher A:** "The essay writing process is not very difficult. The problem is how *I*, as a teacher, teach the essay points. As a teacher, *I* arrive in the classroom and show the learners the types of essays without going into details due to time constrains, and another thing is that the learners start learning about essays from primary school so at other times we ignore them thinking that they came to high school having knowledge of that".

**Teacher B:** "I am looking at the curriculum, I mean the (district) curriculum and assessment policy statement, since it outlines the steps that each essay has to follow. But as a teacher, I give learners a variety of essays besides presenting measures that explains each type. We do not have enough time to do that, we normally give them essay activities as homework so that parents at home may assist but others do not assist their children and that makes the learners to lack knowledge and understanding of essay writing"

Both teachers are not teaching essay writing and essay types in depth. It is believed by teachers that essay writing does not require detailed explanation when taught, and that not every learning subject or matter needs attention. The number of different types of essays was not explained to the learners as well as how different the essays are to each other. During the process of writing, learners show major writing challenges such as grammatical, cohesive and coherence. This has been realised in (Salaxiddinovna: 2022) that learners' have issues such as paragraph organisation, dictions, and vocabulary, misspelling and the responses of teachers support that the problem is on their side. They do not give essays sufficient teaching time, because they do not analyse topics with them, or engage in teaching and learning step by step on how to write and all these pose problems to learners when it comes to writing essays on their own. They put the blame on the way their curriculum is structured in terms of time allocated on the curriculum and inability of parents to assist their children with homeworks.

# Question 2. Unless there are exams, are you testing or assessing learners with essay tasks in the Sepedi classroom?

The researcher sought to find out how often the essays are written in the investigated classroom.

**Teacher A:** "It is really hard to follow the Annual Teaching Program (ATP) and its standards. As a teacher, I am really serious about the weight that comes with all the tasks that need to be accomplished in school including the extra-curricular activities, unfortunately the time is not enough because every aspect of the language is prescribed its own time. If you stay on one aspect longer that its time it becomes a problem and seems like you are not complying."

**Teacher B:** "I really guide the learners with essays, but the learners are very lacking in language and writing. This is a problem that seems to arise with them from primary school and it overlaps into FET band. I think this is caused by the fact that some learners are promoted to the upper grades without expectation of their skills are being met. For example, poor performing learners from Grades 8 or 9 are transferred to Grade 9 or ten 10, this is actually encouraged by the Department of Education, and if you do not agree as a school is as if you do not care about the learners' future."

Teacher A explains that it is difficult to explore the entire Annual Teaching Plan as the concern is covering the required and given tasks which are both common and school based. On the other hand, Teacher B outlines that as much as she tries to bring the learners into the learning environment and speed, it is forever a challenge because the learners are pushed into higher grades with serious gaps of writing skills. This finding relates with Mcarthy, Roscoe and Allen (2022) when they revealed that feedback and assessment are greatest tools or methods of improving essay writing.

Feedback help learners to evaluate themselves and revise their mistakes by incorporating strategies provided by the teacher on spelling and grammar into their revisions. Further, the teachers' responses concur with Mcathy et al., (2022) when he says that the time allocated for teaching, assessing and giving feedback is insufficient and thus delays the implementation of the ATPs. Hence, when teaching, most educators concentrate on the assessments to be covered. Learners who get transferred by primary schools to secondary classes require more time to adjust and adapt to the writing norms of secondary education.

# Question 3: As a teacher, do you think it is important to introduce essays in your classes?

The researcher wanted to know whether teachers have deep understanding of how to teach essays as they do to other topics in Sepedi HL.

**Teacher A:** "Yes! I think it is important to teach essays in details, but the situation is determined by the number of tasks that have to be completed. That is why I never lived to deepen the essay lesson in the classroom. Like I said in my previous response, we are guided by the policies that preach diversity in class but do not give space and time for that to be considered in class. Our policies contrsdict with the classroom needs. It seems as if school is meant for the bright learners only, or the average learners at a certain level. The low performers suffer a lot in the prescribed policies".

**Teacher B:** "No! I think it is a waste of effort, because the essay is something that learners will do until matric. They will have knowledge as they move through the grades until they reach Grade 12. Curriculum in all grades is almost the same, so if the learner struggles with a certain aspect now, there is possibility that they will gain the skills at another level. What is important is for the learner not to be totally empty with the content"

Teacher A has indicated that it is necessary to dwell deep into the topic of the day whenever engaged in a classroom discussion or teaching, but the workload does not allow her to cover or go deep into her teaching. However, Teacher B believed that it is highly unnecessary to dwell deep into the teaching of essay writing as it is a continuing subject across all grades until Grade 12. These findings suggest that learners will not benefit from essay writing lessons as teachers do not seem to give this aspect deserved attention. Some of the benefits that learners will miss are that described by Salaxiddinovna (2022: pp) when stating that essay writing skills stimulates thinking, compels students to concentrate and organise their ideas, and cultivates their ability to summarise, analyse, and criticise. This study finds that, both teachers show huge gap of difference regarding the value of teaching essay writing in their classrooms. It clearly indicates that among the two educators that lack of time and the norm that the teacher in the next grate will teach essays deprives learners the opportunity to learn effective essay writing skills.

#### Question 4: What types of essays do you usually teach in your classroom?

The researcher sought to find out if teachers taught all types of essays in their classrooms.

**Teacher A:** "What I look at in my lesson is to define the types of essays without presenting how each type is written to the learners. Mostly I teach narrative essay. It is easy to adjust to, and it goes with the entire flow of the topic. It is hard to mess up the topic when writing narrative essay."

**Teacher B**: "All types are taught, only part of the resources are missing that we can do to show learners the thoughtfully designed structure. Normally I show them different types of topics from the previous question papers and state the types of essays they fall under, but just getting deep into each of them, giving activities and assessments that will require marking, I am telling you that will need the whole month and that is not doable"

Both educators were found to be teaching essay writing, but both fail to teach all types of essays clearly by covering the required steps of each type of essay. Teacher A focused more on narrative essay as she perceived it to be the simplest and the most understood essay type, with the response showing that the teacher needs upskilling on the teaching of essays. Teacher B outlined that she touches all the parts of each essay type without going deep into the writing steps of each type of essay. Teachers' responses lack knowledge of the values of essays as outlined in Elser (2023) when saying that essay writing increases understanding and helps the process of learning because it pushes learners to, amongst other things, clarify and sort out ideas and information, analyse source material and exercise critical judgement. Thus, it is the responsibility of Sepedi HL educators to ensure that all aspects of essay writing are covered and understood by all learners before heading to the major lengths of writing assessments. Learning requires no short cuts for it to be successful and give pleasant results.

#### Question 5: How often is essay writing taught in Sepedi classroom?

Here the researcher tried to explore the teachers on how many times they teach and assess essay writing skills to learners in order to examine whether their failure that makes learners not to be able to produce creative essays.

**Teacher A:** "The most dominant genre in my Sepedi lesson is the narrative essay genre, which is the one I always engage learners in. It is gentle and it does not need to be too tense. I give at least one essay activity per term and as a homework mostly"

**Teacher B:** "I only teach essay writing in the first term and give one activity in all the terms of the year. For consecutive terms of the year, I work to provide learners with examination papers from previous years, so that they can write different essays from the topics written on those examination papers without delving into their interpretation."

Both educators show that they teach essay but not as frequent as needed in their classrooms. Teacher A teaches prides herself with teaching narrative essay as she takes it to be much simpler to understand. On the other hand, Teacher B only teaches essay writing in the first term following topics in the previous Paper 3 question papers to refine learners' essay writing skills, also giving one essay activity in all the other terms. These finding relate to the one of Marue and Pantas (2019) who found that students experience various challenges in their efforts of writing a descriptive essay such as grammatical problems, vocabulary limitations, and word choice, spelling and idea development. The effort and time that the educators put in teaching language, particularly essays, focus on covering learners' understanding of what is required in essays. Both educators seemed to have duck and dive method when it comes to teaching and learning essay writing. They are not aware that teaching essays to learners intensively will lessen their load because learners will be able to think, solve problems and use language effectively and constructively.

# Question 6: Do you think the essay lesson is important for writing skills in Sepedi Home Language?

The researcher here wanted to know whether the essay subject is seen as useful or taken into account in schools for the purpose of making learners to be the good writers.

**Teacher A:** "The essay is really the best basis for guiding writing standards for learners. An essay is what presents learners' ideas, planning, aesthetics, spelling and writing to their mentors, but things are not going our way as teachers"

**Teacher B:** "The essay is a text that supports and is able to develop writing and presentation skills, but learners indicate that they do not see Sepedi lesson as important, especially to pay attention to the essays. This might be because they lack vocabulary even though it is their home language and that puts danger to their education because lack of home language might make them suffer with other languages. They have a tendency of thinking that Sepedi is old, dull and inferior as compared to English."

Both educators show mutual agreement that essay writing is imperative for the development of Sepedi Home Language writing skills. However, they express that learners see no importance of learning Sepedi or writing in Sepedi. The majority of learners pretend to know English language, and speaking it fascinates them and to the society. Native language is taken as inferior language. In his study, Pham (2021) found that collaborative writing helped enhance the students' writing fluency in terms of the number of words in both collaboratively written papers and individually written papers. This signifies that essays can standardise, develop and help learners to learn writing. The current researcher sees no other space in the curriculum for learners and teachers to explore writing except in the field of essay writing. It is quite important for the learners to understand that writing is required in most parts of their lives, more especially writing in one's Home Language.

# Question 7. Do learners in the Sepedi HL classroom demonstrate creative skills and knowledge of writing situations?

Here, the researcher assessed the writing skills or level of the learners to examine if learners are able to write, before their weaknesses in essay construction and composition are considered.

**Teacher A:** "That is a really slippery road as Sepedi language learners are more used to English and street language than clean raw native home language. So, skills and creativity are really lacking very much at the writing stage."

**Teacher B:** "There are learners who show love of the home language and the ability to write using the home language, but the learners are also under the negative influence of syntax."

Teacher A indicates that English language has some major dominance on the learners' speaking and writing skills. Teacher B indicates that the learners are quite interested at times, but the influence of code texting has an impact on their writing. The above statement can be solved by Wilby (2020) where he suggests that writing motivation and self-regulation can have a positive impact on writing task performance, and that instruction can develop both writing motivation and self-regulatory strategy use. It is arguable that with the transition into the Fourth Industrial Revolution (4IR) native languages are gradually becoming a thing of the past. That is, the way pupils speak and write has been affected all together by the exposure to the digital world. Not to mention the dominance this newly writing techniques of social media has on the classroom writings, most especially in essay writing.

# Question 8: Do learners understand the importance of the essay writing skills in teaching and learning?

The researcher wanted to note what happens before learners fail to write essays. That is whether learners are made aware of the requirements and steps to be followed when writing essays.

**Teacher A:** "In reality, learners lack the level of awareness and understanding of the importance of writing. Most learners just write for the sake of writing, without showing understanding and artistry in what they are writing. Learners have the mindset that 'Sepedi is our Home Language we understand it'."

**Teacher B:** "Learners indicate that they see the essay as part of the curriculum that should be written as part of the lesson, and that they should have marks to appear in the next grade." Both teachers indicated that they have problems with how learners tend to under estimate their Home Language. They said that learners regard their HL as something that they all know and have no reason to focus on. According to Sogutlu and Velia (2022), learners have no interest and show no positivity towards essay writing even though many struggle with essay organisation, grammar and vocabulary. This study finds that teaching learners what they are not interested in is problematic for Sepedi HL teachers. Learners need to be made aware of the value of learning their Home Language even if it is not particularly one's mother tongue.

# Question 9: Does the school and education department show support and promotion of essay writing?

With this question, the researcher wanted to find out whether essay writing is taken into account, particularly in terms of the support that the school and education department give to teachers and learners to promote writing.

**Teacher A:** "The support that is available is the motivation for learners to appear for writing their exams. There are no other methods existent for strengthening writing standards, such as essay writing competitions. The department and the subject specialist just comment on the performance of learners but nothing is done for improvement"

**Teacher B:** "Support is what we get when the language tutors of the learning community make an effort to go to the tutoring sites and lesson consultations. However, the essay writing aspect is not focused on."

Both educators indicated that support is lacking, especially when it comes to language writing skills. The support given is directed at enabling and strengthening non language subjects. In relation to this finding, Greetham (2022) states that "instead of learners and teachers seeking help, they tend to work on improving their skills and embark on the strategy of just learning through their mistakes or by just seeing and working through the problem with the tutor, such as analysing the difficult concepts and difficult ideas, which is a new way of and better way looking at a problem". Based on this, it is safe to argue that the school and the Department of Education (DoE) need to involve language subjects in their integration of subject improvement initiatives. This not need only to cover the subject matter but the language educators as well, in that educators need to go through continuous development programs at least once a year.

# Question 10: As a teacher, do you think that learners have knowledge from past grades, with emphasis on writing, especially essay writing?

The researcher used this question to determine whether teachers had the willingness or ability to find strategies of correcting and improving the weaknesses that learners encounter.

**Teacher A:** "As a teacher, I would like to say that there is no awareness about the importance of writing, but then the learners' basic skill of writing is very lacking."

**Teacher B:** "I hope no teacher is inexperienced in the importance of writing. I think the point is that teachers should commit themselves to bringing that love to the learners."

Teacher A explained that learners do not show any evidence that they were made aware of the importance of writing. There is basically no evidence of prior knowledge. On the other hand, Teacher B explained that the problem comes or is caused by hiring inexperienced teachers in the field that does not relate to their studies. According to Ifenthaler (2022), "Analytics-enhanced assessments of written essays may reveal personal information and insights into an individual learning history; however, they are not accredited and far from being unbiased, comprehensive, and fully valid at this point in time". Prior knowledge is essential when in learning. Thus, it is good to test prior knowledge of the learners as this will guide the teacher on how to help learners use their repertoires to tackle the work to be done. When learners show no prior knowledge or awareness of the topic or any set of required skill for a particular content, problems may arise in their learning process. Teachers must be employed to teach subjects that they have specialised in at higher institutions of learning. It is the view of the current researcher that if the needed teacher is of a language subject, then a language teacher should be employed, rather than someone who did method of teaching. This is because teachers who possess method of teaching certificates do not have in-depth knowledge of the subject content compared with those who majored in the subject throughout tertiary education.

# Question 11. What do you see as the solution to improve the weaknesses faced by the learners regarding essay writing?

With this question, the researcher wanted to examine if teachers are aware of the alternative methods or solutions to the problems of writing skills, especially with regard to essay writing.

**Teacher A:** "I think the best thing is to take steps to assign our learners more tasks that involve writing in them. Particular attention is paid to the third section (3) that involves collaborative products and essays, and to ensure that classes are not limited to the days indicated by the Annual Teaching Plan."

**Teacher B:** "Serve and take teachers and learners to various writing workshops and competitions."

Both teachers claimed that for the betterment of essay writing skills, there is a need for quality improvement. Teacher A recommended giving learners more writing

activities, whereas Teacher B believed that establishment of writing retreats and writing completions will elevate learners' writing skills. These suggestions resonate with those of Kohnke (2022: pp) who said he encourages language teachers to explore the pedagogical possibilities of educational chatbots that cater to their learners' needs. Thus, teachers with little or no programming experience can develop chatbots to enrich language learning". Writing is a skill that requires plenty of practice and in this case, both educators have found strong grounds to develop writing. Learners rely on writing to succeed in all their learning areas. Thus, language subjects should use writing lessons to equip learners with all the skills they need to write across different disciplines.

#### 4.1.2 ANALYSIS OF DISCUSSIONS AND RESPONSES FROM LEARNERS

#### Question 1: Do you think Sepedi HL essay lessons are important? Explain.

With this question, the researcher yearned to assess whether learners value essay writing in schools.

**Learner A:** "I think it is important because it teaches how to write Sepedi clearly and helps my understanding."

**Learner B:** "Helps me to be able to use language such as proverbs and idioms as well as punctuation."

**Learner C:** "Helps me write and know the use of punctuation, appropriate language. One is able to present one's knowledge by writing an essay."

**Learner D:** "Because it helps me as a learner not to forget my language and to be able to discuss and swear or explain what I see. On the other hand, as a learner I can write and I can correct myself where I am wrong."

**Learner E:** "Because I can learn language well when we write, and I write in the right language. On the other hand, I can see the errors I encounter in the language."

**Learner F**: "Because essay Sepedi teaches me how to write other types of essays. To continue as a learner it teaches me knowledge and enhances my knowledge of Sepedi Home Language. I also learn the spelling of words."

The learners show to have much interest in learning essay writing using their Home Language Sepedi. Other learners explain that it could expose them to new ways of improving their writing capabilities as well as help them explore the foundations of native language writing. Writing is said to be an important skill across academia, the workplace, and civic participation. Writing incorporates instantiations of particular text structures - rhetorical moves - that communicate intent to the reader" (Knight, Shibani, Abel, Gison, Radhika and Shum (2020). The argument of Knight, et al. (2020) suggests that teachers need to take initiatives to improve teaching of essay writing, and not only teach to cover syllabus, but take learners through all steps of essay writing. Thus, teachers should let learners be free and not passively learn one type essay (narrative essay).

### Question 2: What are the challenges you face when writing essays in Sepedi Home Language?

The researcher sought to identify the obstacles or difficulties that learners encounter in HL essay writing.

**Learner A:** "The challenges I face as a learner are punctuation, spelling, lack of information according to the needs of the topic, as well as structure and sequence."

**Learner B:** *"For me as a learner, the challenges I face are punctuation, repetition of words, pressure and word order."* 

**Learner C:** "The challenges I face are spelling of words, I lack the ability to write proper words in Sepedi, plot or details from beginning to end, and elegance of language is a problem for me."

**Learner D:** "The challenges or difficulties I have are spelling and word order. I cannot write moderate words, I write overly long words."

**Learner E**: "As a learner, when I write any essay, I have difficulty drawing a proper mind map and spelling of many words in the Sepedi language. Another major challenge for me is to write stories according to the given essay topic even if it is my own choice."

**Learner F:** "I am confused about how to fix the punctuation when I write words as well as to follow my affairs in the right way. I encounter problems like organising when I write essays."

Learners A and B indicated that their challenges are based on punctuation, spelling, improper sequence of words, repetition of words and order of word. Learners C, D, E

and F portrayed that planning is a major challenge for them, as well as drawing mind maps and organising essay writing. Ibili, Cat, Resnyansky, Sahin and Billinghurst (2020), indicates that applying mind maps in writing can improve learners' essay writing skills and make the learning atmosphere more enjoyable. Thus, when teaching essay writing, educators need to focus on addressing the challenges that arise after assessments. Learners can be engaged in activities covering scenarios of inputting punctuations and paragraphing and word ordering so to improve and channel their writing foundations.

# Question 3: Does the writing and presentation style help to develop your writing skills?

The researcher here wished to focus on the method of teaching essays in schools, to examine if essays are taught in a manner that improves the writing and presentation skills of the learners.

**Learner A:** "As a learner, I think that writing and presentation style really help to develop my writing and presentation skills in a way that I cannot develop in English."

**Learner B:** "That way as a learner, I can see my mistakes and correct them after they are presented. I can recognise and correct my mistakes."

**Learner C:** "This allows teachers to correct me, and I can see my mistakes. I have knowledge and skills in writing. Yes; because I can see if I can describe an event or tell a story."

**Learner D:** "Yes! Since some of us might really want to write books, we will now have the energy to write as we started with an essay lesson in school. Because an essay develops writing and presentation skills."

**Learner E:** "I really see the opportunity as gaining experience in writing skills and being able to produce a text, from this essay lesson."

**Learner F:** Yes! *I*, as a learner, cannot write the words of the Home Language and punctuations properly. It challenges me."

All learners seemed to be open to working on ground skills and discovering their full potential and leaving space for better improvement of teaching and learning. According to Wilson and Roscoe (2020), implementation of AWE is infrequent and deemphasises writing instruction and writing practice". This argument is true of this study's findings in that this study regards classrooms as safe havens for improvement for both learners and teachers. This is because in the classroom, teachers and learners are able to explore and realise what actually challenges them and how to fix those challenges.

# Question 4: Is there anything important to learn from the essay writing exercises?

The aim of this question was to determine the learners' level of understanding regarding essay planning.

**Learner A**: "From the context of writing essays, I can express and say Sepedi language words."

Learner B: "I can see how much I can explain to myself about what I don't know."

**Learner C:** "Yes, because I am learning to organize the sentence and words correctly, especially speaking in terms of text."

**Learner D:** "Yes, I feel I can distinguish and adjust between the level of such past and future factors, and my level of creativity is really showing improvement."

**Learner E:** *"Writing comes with a lesson to teach the basics of planning, interpretation and how to sequence points when writing."* 

**Learner F:** *"It teaches me to be able to tell stories correctly without getting confused, but I am failing at writing using my Home Language."* 

Learners were found to be open to the scenario of essay writing tabs. They perceived essay writing as an opportunity to develop meaningful writing skills. "The use of mindmaps has been proven to have a positive effect not only on learner's achievement but also on teacher's teaching. In addition teachers are required to shift from examination only centered teaching to teaching that diversifies approaches for sake of learners" (Naibaho, 2022). It is always wise to model learners on various writing taps such as planning, organising, paragraphing and constructing sentences.

### Question 5: Is the essay lesson taught intensively or not?

The researcher here assessed the quality of the essay lesson in the classroom. She sought to discover how thorough essay lesson are taught.

**Learner A:** "Actually essay writing in my classroom, is not an intensively taught skill. It is something that is considered a non-disturbing learning area."

**Learner B:** "I think it is taught in-depth because we are taught several steps in its writing, but the problem is that we are not given enough guidance during tasks."

**Learner C:** "I don't think it is taught in depth because spelling and punctuation are not taken into account. I don't see us being taught the standards or skills of writing and presenting."

**Learner D:** "I see in my class it is not taught in-depth because when time comes to write tests, if we are not reminded, then I forget about the types and strategies of its writing."

**Learner E:** *"It is not taught in depth because not all genres are taught and I cannot have the experience of organising the facts needed when writing different essays."* 

**Learner F:** "I think it is not taught in-depth because there is a lack of what the teacher does not meet. This deficiency is similar to the planning and use of punctuation."

Learners conveyed that essay writing is not given required attention as it is taught in passing. This means that teachers do not give essay writing attention, focus nor thought. Teachers take it that 'learners will just pass this topic, it is easy'. According Vasu, Fung and Rushid (2020), self-assessment can be a very important teaching and learning tool for developing goal setting and strategic language writing plans. Learners need to be introduced to self-assessment in the process of teaching and learning language, as it could be used as a good strategy within language writing classes. The major problem with essay writing is not that it is difficult, even though it might have language challenges. The problem is that there is no in-depth teaching and learning of essay writing

# Question 6: After the essay session, do you remember anything, unless the teacher raises a question?

The researcher tried to discover the learners' memorisation skills after they have been taught the essays. This was also to determine whether the lesson assigned to learners is enjoyable or attracts learners' attention.

**Learner A:** "Yes, I can organise the subject and the sentences well. I know and can explain them."

**Learner B:** "There are some types that I understand like narrative essay and other types that still surprise me."

Learner C: "I can describe the steps of an essay in order."

**Learner D:** "Yes, because I think the Sepedi narrative is better understood compared to other programs from the English lesson."

**Learner E:** I only remember the mind mapping program, but when it comes to organising the content I really see darkness."

**Learner F:** "I can recall and explain all the requirements mentioned during this essay lesson."

Learners explained that they do remember some of the aspects taught regarding essay writing, while others said they are helped by the question papers. However, some said they do not remember anything that was taught to them at all. Explanatory mixed-methods approaches carry with them a lot of writing benefits such as helping in peer writing mediations and collaborative writing activities (Fathi & Rahim 2022). What the educators teach the learners need to be skills that are remembered and known by heart. That is, essay writing needs to be invested in the hearts and minds of the learners such that when they write, all topics and types of essay become part of their lives. Hence, writing needs to be constructed much more deeply.

# Question 7: Are you able to develop your Sepedi language skills and fluency when writing essays?

The researcher here wished to discover whether learners have an interest and love for the Home Language.

Learner A: "Yes, I can put my speech and words or the order of the theme right."

**Learner B:** "Yes, because essay is a language learning tool and it can teach us to write many texts."

**Learner C:** "No, I fail to develop my skills by not putting punctuation and planning–I mean, creation or word structure when I write essays."

**Learner D:** "No, because the essay is taught in Sepedi but it is not the language I always use at home. It is difficult for me to write or compose a proper essay."

**Learner E:** "No, there are some stages of speech that I don't even understand in writing. They don't fit the way we talk at home."

**Student F:** "Yes, because I can put my speech right, and I put the words in the right order."

The effect of grammar and punctuation usage is giving learner's major problems when writing though this errors they are unable to produce profound quality essays. Learners show struggle because even though they are taught Sepedi as home language it is not their mother tongue when they get home. Seyoum, Yigzaw and Bewuketu (2022) agree with the findings of this study when stating that the inappropriate teaching methods, time constraints and large classes are frequent obstacles that do not allow learners to apply their essay writing skills. It was found in this study that teaching and learning of essays must cover the basics of grammar, punctuation, sentencing and proper paragraphing when writing–all of which were constrained by time, class population and the subsequent methods of teaching and learning. Thus, the current researcher contend that it is not necessary for teachers to teach the types of essays and how each must be written when learners do not have basic writing.

# Question 8: Do you know, or have you been taught the requirements for writing an essay such as essay planning?

The researcher intended to examine whether learners are taught the planning and different essay formats, and whether writing standards are taught.

Learner A: "No, I don't know because I mess things up and I can't organise."

**Learner B:** "I have been taught, because today I know and understand them in a sensible way."

**Learner C:** "I know because when I start writing an essay, I am given a piece of paper and I start studying or drawing a draft."

**Learner D:** "Yes, I know I was warned by the teacher that before you write an essay you should write a mind map to develop the plot."

**Learner E:** "I have been taught them but I cannot produce them. I am still struggling to produce an essay on the right situation."

**Learner F:** "I have been taught that planning is always accompanied by a mind map before you start anything, but I lack creativity and imagination in terms of content."

This study found that most learners were taught the required guidelines for writing essays. Hence, five of the six learners attested that they were taught guidelines, and that they are aware of them although they struggle with remembering them at times. One out of the six learners stated that they were not given lessons on essay writing guidelines, and therefore sees no importance in following them. According to Karakoc, Ruegg and Gu (2022), reading and writing methods must be involved or put into rigid parts of writing in higher grade classrooms, and learners must evaluate their topics and go through the topic ideas to learn how to express ideas in their essays. This study found that the acquisition of good essay writing skills was a challenge to most learners in that learners would know what is essay and the types of essay, but failed to construct meaningful essays nor follow writing basic essay writing such as planning, sentencing and paragraphing.

# Question 9: Do you see any changes in the way or ways in which essay writing standards are taught?

The researcher here aimed to learn what learners want to be reduced, added or removed from essay lessons.

**Learner A:** "No, because writing essays is the same as there is no change they want in matric or higher grades."

**Learner B**: "Yes, because learners need to be taught by seeing and being explained to. My school in English learning lacks visual aids. It will be much better if I am taught by something I see."

**Learner C:** "No, there aren't any changes that can be made to improve the standards for writing essays."

**Learner D:** "Yes, because there are so many different types of essays like narrative, and critical essays. It would be much better if they were taught according to the needs, not as a meeting or summary method."

**Learner E:** "No, let me see if there are any changes in the way essay writing standards are taught. I explain as such that the standards for teaching essays are not taken into account."

**Learner F:** "No, there is no need for changes in the ways in which the essay writing standards are taught, as they are still taught as in previous grades."

Only two learners seemed to have positive outlook on the improvement of essay writing. They said it could be used to promote and develop writings standard in the language classroom. However, four learners from the six learners seemed to see no improvements in essay writing. In relation to these findings, Alafanan (2023) states that there are various ways in which educators can help learners improve the standard of writing. This includes reading, brainstorming and frequent writing practices (Alafanan, 2023). There is always a room for improvement in any leaning context including the context of essay writing. The current researcher holds the view that with the ever changing world, there is plenty of information at the disposal of both teachers and learners on how to improve writing–ranging from methods and theory to practice. Thus, essay writing can be improved if teachers and learners go beyond the norms of teaching and learning essay writing.

# Question 10: How do you think the challenges you face in writing essays can be avoided?

The researcher here aims to discover whether learners have any way their obstacles or challenges can be resolved or avoided.

**Learner A:** "If I can sequence punctuation and master sequencing events, and write a mind map in order, all will be fine."

**Learner B:** "The way I can avoid them is to take the time to learn in my own time. Because I'm not that interested in my books."

**Learner C:** "I think the best way is for the teacher to start by teaching us how to write an essay and punctuate, and also where to write and how to write the ending."

**Learner D:** *"If the teacher focuses and engages with the planning stage and regularly checks whether learners are able to create themselves, we will improve."* 

Learner E: "In the manner of knowing punctuation and word order."

**Learner F:** "If I sit down with a Sepedi teacher and he tells me or shows me where punctuation is written and that the length of words should be short, I will improve."

In response to the 10<sup>th</sup> question, all learners mentioned that they do not getting enough time nor are being given enough time to be taught and learn essay writing skills. Learner A explained that she is not interested in books, but if she gives herself time, she could improve in her studies, particularly in essay writing. According to Setyowati,

Abisaya and El-Sulukiyyah (2022), almost all learners have psychological problems when writing an essays. This includes anxiety, nervousness, pressure, self-demand of perfect work and low self- confidence". In line with the above statement, the current researcher found that learners are disconnected to their learning, and have no motivation to solve their essay writing problems because with there is insufficient time for them and teachers to engage in essay writing lessons. However, the current researcher suggests that midst time constrains, teachers should prioritise giving feedback to learners for them to seek help from mentors, tutors and parents on how to overcome such challenges.

#### **4.3 CONCLUSION**

In this chapter, the researcher presented and analysed the data collected regarding the research topic. From the fragments of the answers from teachers and learners, the researcher presented the most intriguing findings regarding their challenges in Sepedi HL essay writing skills. Thus, the study found that learners had deficiencies and challenges pertaining to planning, structuring, word formation and punctuation and lack of creative skills. Furthermore, the study found that, the essay writing skills in Sepedi HL are not given the same attention or focus as is in English FAL subject. The next chapter presents the summary of findings and recommendations derived from the findings discussed in the concluded chapter (chapter 4).

#### CHAPTER FIVE

#### SUMMARY OF FINDINGS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

#### **5.1. INTRODUCTION**

The previous chapter outlined the analysis of data collected from teachers and learners regarding the challenges that Grade 10 learners experienced regarding essay writing. The current chapter makes a reflections on the purpose of the study, research questions, literature review as well as the findings of the study. That is, the chapter presents the summary chapters, findings, recommendations, suggestions and conclusions for further research.

#### **5.2 SUMMARY OF CHAPTERS**

#### Chapter one

This chapter presented the general introduction of the study, focusing more on the background and motivation, the problem statement, abbreviated literature review, abbreviated research methodology, the significance of the study as well as the ethical issues. Thus, the chapter succeeded in explaining to the reader, reasons why the topic of this study was worth investigating, looking particularly at the background and motivation, the problem statement and literature.

#### Chapter two

The purpose of this chapter was to present and evaluate literature relevant to or similar to the research being conducted. Research written by other researchers was reviewed to help the researcher to solve and uncover the causes of the identified problem. Thus, this chapter helped the researcher to also identify what other researchers have written or found about the existing problem, and the methods they used to explore the phenomenon of this study.

#### Chapter three

The purpose of this chapter was to present the research methods. In this chapter, the researcher outlined the research methods used to conduct this study, focusing more on methodology, research design, sampling techniques and the data collection and analysis methods.

### Chapter four

This chapter presented the findings from the interviews with the research participants. The presentation of data was done in accordance with the proposed method of analysis in chapter three. Further, the study objectives were taken into consideration when presenting findings for the researcher to achieve the main aim of the study.

### Chapter five

This is the final chapter of this study that aims to present the summary of chapters, findings, recommendations and suggestions for future research in cases of the gaps that this study could not close.

### 5.3 SUMMARY OF FINDINGS

### 5.3.1 CHALLENGES

The researcher examined the ways in which essays are taught and written in the classrooms, and found that teachers do not teach the standards of essay properly. For example, some learners were observed during writing to examine their writing abilities, as well as the ability to answer questions successfully using writing. The study found that four out of six learners were concerned that the content of essay writing is not taught in-depth and is not taken seriously. Among the six leaner participants, three demonstrated lack of skills and fluency when writing Sepedi HL essays. Four out of six male learners indicated that they do not see any improvement or changes in the standards in which essay is taught in the classrooms.

The main point that the researcher discovered is that teachers do not have time to teach essays vividly. Learners expressed that their challenges would be avoided if teachers give them more time to write. For example, Learner F in question ten (10) explained that, "*If I sit down with a Sepedi teacher and he shows me where punctuation is written in a text, and the length of writing words, I will improve*". Teachers must commit themselves to help to learners overcome the challenges they face in writing, particularly essays.

According to Deiniatur (2021), educators should construct or establish new methods involving technological methods of integrating learning. As much as it is found that majority of learners have access to social media, this suggestion can help teachers to

remedy the difficulties of essay writing in schools. It is the teachers' responsibility to use the strategies, techniques and resources that appeal to learners to encourage their participation in writing activities. Teachers can use social media platforms such as WhatsApp, Facebook, Zoom and Teams to teach writing, as these applications are more appealing to learners. The teacher should be able to create interesting material so that the material will be used in the classroom as well as be posted into goggle classroom (Deiniatur, 2021). In question 11, Teacher A said "The best thing I think, is to take steps to assign our learners more tasks that involve writing in them. Particular attention has been paid to the third aspect of paper (P3) collaborative products and essays and to ensure that they are not taught only on the days specified in the writing and teaching program".

It has been discovered that learners face challenges in relation to the essay subject. The researcher noticed that learners fail to choose a question to answer when given essay tests or assignments. Learners fail to spell words correctly and use language to make meaning. In agreement, Oktavianti (2021) elaborates that issues of following the styles of a particular essay and choosing types of essays learners are knowledgeable of could labelled as common or regular challenges when regarding essay writing. Oktavianti (2021) further adds that learners also struggle with organisation problems, improper referencing, structuring and grammatical problems as well as lack of prompt motivation of creative writing.

This study found that learners were given little time to write when they had to write prolonged texts such as essays. In addition, learners were found to have little knowledge of the topics given to write about, and thus failed to reach the required minimum number of words. The problem is that learners were not taught to create their own essay titles with pictures. Hence, most of them encountered many difficulties regarding developing content for their essays. This was also caused by not understanding the questions or the topic itself, as well as not listening to their teachers during lessons. On the other hand, teachers were also found to not have enough time to teach or explain to learners what each type of essay requires.

During writing, some learners struggled with punctuations and lacked time to study the use of punctuations with the teacher. Uymaz (2019) explains that through the variety of learners' challenges and issues, learners are not aware of methods such as feedback and coordinating among themselves. It is encouraged that learners give each other feedback to encourage cooperative and interactive learning among

learners. The learners do not understand the importance that comes with peer teaching. There is better learning, understanding, discussions and cooperativeness when learners tackle issues by themselves for themselves, not forgetting doing consultation through educators.

This study found another problem to be that some children run out of ideas when writing, while others are lazy to think, and thus fail to understand that writing an essay requires a lot effort. Learners are given very little time to write, which is why they fail to organise their material. Some learners write language the way they speak it, hence the researcher found inappropriate language and careless errors in their essays. The study found that learners have difficulty of finding equivalent English words when writing Sepedi Home Language essays. Learners often write using the language they use on social media, such as (Facebook), to shorten the words that they find difficult to spell. The methods used in writing on their social platforms reflected in their classroom writing and affected their writing badly.

In support of the above findings, Howlett and Zainee (2019) indicate that the 21<sup>st</sup> century learners are immersed by the age of media and globalisation of technology. This has led to many learners believing that the use of social media platforms and digital devices has high chances of improving teaching and learning. Although it may be true that digital and social media can be used to improve learning, teachers will have more work to train learners to write appropriately on media.

The study found that some learners tend to omit writing the title of the essay and fail to sequence the material in order, as well as to present paragraphs well. Drawing a proper mind-map is a sleepwalker as learners must write a word or two in the mind map to guide their paragraph content. Another sleep depriving issue is the improper use of proverbs and idioms on a topic that does not match. Learners tend not to follow the given instructions such as writing word count at the end of an essay without care to the meaning of their essay. Suhaimah, Arif and Ayu (2021) says that for essay writing to be a dilemma, it is because of the attitudes of learners and educators when facing the teaching and learning attributes of essay writing. All these cause issues like cognitive challenges, problems of transferring language as well as challenges in the area of grammar, vocabulary and structuring of essays.

The researcher realised that giving learners one topic can improve their essay writing skills. In addition, learners need to be taught and shown how to translate words. This

is because some learners indicated that their teachers teach them pure Sepedi and emphasise that the person preparing the text for them should reduce the number of words and gives them a little time to finish. With this, the researcher discovered that teachers are impatient with learners when teaching essays, and do not discuss the topics of essays related to current affairs or events that are relatable to learners. Learners do not get an in-depth explanation of how an essay is written. Therefore, it is difficult for them to find more information to write about and to write fluently.

Ro'ufiyati and Mahbub (2023) states that all the challenges and difficulties that learners seem to be facing or going through yield to lack motivation to write, hence writing anxiety gets the best of the learners. Writing anxiety is commonly a result of educators' insufficient feedback to learners, low self-esteem or self-doubts and lack of creativity in teaching writing. Teachers should give learners all the help and support they need in essay writing. This study found that some learners preferred to have their own topics because the ones provided by the teacher are difficult to understand as they written in proverbs and idioms. Learners need to be helped from time to time to develop meaningful essay writing skills. Thus, teachers should teach learners proverbs and idioms so that when they encounter topics with proverbs and idioms, they can understand. Learners should be taught how to use punctuations and how to produce a mind map. Ro'ufiyati and Mahbub (2023) indicates that the learners' grievances concerning essay writing can be overcome through Communicative Language Teaching (CLT). This approach is found to be an effective strategy for enabling learners to communicate freely in their writing. This approach encourages learners to put their ideas and feelings in writing. It also creates an interesting learning environment for all learners when writing and constructing essays by allowing them to use their experiences and existing knowledge to learn new skills.

Teachers should create time to sit with learners and give them work on the essay and then see which ones fail, and find out the cause for that. This will enable them to provide relevant support to learners and meet the different needs of learners. Learners must be given the instructions and information before they write their essay. Reading instructions and information can help many learners to know what they are expected to do. Learners should be given plenty of time when writing their essays to write in legible handwriting. This will help them to identify their mistakes and correct them before submitting. More writing time will also give learners the opportunity to think about the topics and instructions to write with understanding. It was noted that teachers encouraged learners to make draft before writing to submit. Further, teachers explained to learners that they should write in groups when writing an essay so that they can share ideas and clarify each other where they do not understand. Despite all these, the researcher found that the exercises were limiting for learners as they were not given different topics to choose the one they understand. LI (2022) asserts that standardisation of writing essays in higher learning areas is found to be a challenging issue, looking at the methods used when scoring, i.e., holistic scoring of learners essays. Moreover, it is found that holistic scoring has its intend of leading other learners into being scored very high while scoring others very much lower. In addition, holistic scoring intends not to have variation when marking. Its either scoring is actively high or actively low. This results in essay scores not reflecting proper feedback that should channel the development of essay writing in classrooms.

#### **5.4 RECOMMENDATIONS**

#### 5.4.1 Teachers' recommendations to the department of education.

Teachers in the Department of Education are asking that all schools be given equal funds, that those in rural areas be equal to those in urban areas. More attention should be paid to the lower grades such as Grade 10. If the influence is not that the learners are caged, there are no practice sessions and games to encourage writing nor spelling. For example, there should be spelling bee competitions in the circuit. The Department of Education should assist in elevating the importance of Sepedi Home Language to the level of other key subjects such as Physical Science, Life Sciences, Mathematics and English. This will expose how valuable Sepedi is as a subject and a Home Language, as well as the importance of writing in the Sepedi HL.

#### 5.4.2 Researcher's recommendations to teachers and learners

Teachers are advised to consider the essay lesson, and learners should see the importance of being able to write proper essays. Teachers do not show commitment to validating the lesson in classes because for learners to love writing and be able to write an essay in Sepedi, they have to refresh their minds and find the lesson interesting. Learners should ignore the fact that the English language is of a lower standard compared to English. Moreover, it is necessary for learners to stop looking down on the subject of essay as a trivial matter. All subjects are important, and the

Home Language is even more important because if learners fail HL, they fail repeat a grade.

Teachers should consider all aspects of essays when teaching essays. They should teach structure, planning, grammar, punctuation, word length and imagery. Therefore, it is not necessary for a teacher to teach this language just because the school does not have a teacher. Teachers should spend time with primary school learners to teach them about essays so that they equip them with effective essay writing skills, such that when they reach Grade 10, they would still know how to write essays correctly. Today's teachers are the peers of the learners. Girls and boys look at their teachers in a way that is not allowed to think about love, not listening to what teachers and teachers are saying. Thus, more engaging teaching methods, strategies and resources should be employed to increase the learners' focus on a lesson.

#### 5.4.3 Recommendations for teachers on writing steps

Learners should observe and follow all the steps of writing. Teachers need to ensure that learners know the steps to follow them when writing. Learners should plan before writing, draft, revise, analyse, and proofread before producing a final text.

#### Before writing and configuring

This requires learners to consider the given topic as well as the audience. When writing, learners should pay close attention to form, mood and first or third person writing. They should write down the ideas that will be used when drawing a mind map and find relevant sources to support their ideas.

#### Writing drafts

This involves using the plan to develop main and additional ideas during first draft writing. This is followed by learners giving their first drafts to their friends for revision. The teacher then guides the learners to correct each other, looking at the use of appropriate words, phrases and sentence structure. Learners should be taught to write without expressing the reader's emotional excitement. The essayist should express his or her perspective but not forget to support their information with sources. The ending of the essay should be as appealing as its introduction.

#### Review, assess and correct as well as present

Teachers have improved the text by correcting errors such as spelling mistakes, inappropriate words and paragraphs. Learners should be informed that multiple

meaning sentences and profanity are not required, they are omitted to check content, style and register and to use punctuation, language and spelling correctly. At this stage, learners can prepare and present the final draft.

# 5.5 STRUCTURES AND RULES OF LANGUAGE USAGE THAT TEACHERS

# SHOULD GUIDE LEARNERS WITH DURING THE WRITING PROCESS

## The ways in which register, style and tone should be written

The register should be relevant to the purpose, both formal and informal. The writer in this context is referred to as the learner directing his or her stories directly to the reader by presenting them with perspective even if the content is convincing and presented with confidence.

## Choice of words

Writers should use verb forms, adjectives and prepositions, metaphors, and formal language in a correct form. They should give direct description in terms of product relationships.

## The structure of the sentence

Word types and lengths are important. As such, all points on words and parts of speech must be used correctly.

# Writing paragraphs

The learners should be able write the topic, main ideas and complementary ideas, introduction, body and conclusion when writing essays. They should learn coherence and cohesion in order to present essays that require them to show: chronological sequence of events; cause and effect; process; comparison and contrast; and order of importance.

# 5.5.1 Researcher's recommendations to parents of the learners

Though learners spend much quality hours at schools with educators, parents remain the core foundation of the learners. That being said, parents are advised to be highly involved in their children's school activities. Parents should reduce the amount of screen time learners have at home and involve learners in reading and writing narrative stories to improve their Home Language skills. Parents are advised to honour the school invitations when educators summon them to visit the school to discuss their kids' educational matters. Most importantly, parents should encourage their children to use their mother tongue (Sepedi language in this case) to communicate while at home. In so doing, the learners will understand the importance of Home Language, and thus get motivated to improve their HL essay writing skills. The parents should always put it in their learner's minds that Home Language is key to excellence in their studies, and that they can learn any other language when they have strong foundations of the Home Language.

#### 5.5.2 Recommendations to educators, learners, and parents on the importance

#### of writing skills

#### Recommendations on the importance of writing skills

It is important that when writing, the learner can engage the readers in the subject matter through meaningful construction of sentences, correct spelling, punctuations, and right choice of words. Without the writing skill, one cannot progress from one grade to another because writing is used as a means of assessment in all subjects. Thus, learners must be able to write in the Home Language, as failure to do so will result in grade repetition.

Learners should be encouraged to become Sepedi book writers and Home Language teachers/lecturers. This will increase their motivation to read and write extensively in the Home Language as well as to participate in classroom writing activities. Writing essays is another way of teaching learners to express their ideas. Many learners have learned to write essays so that they can express their different ideas in magazines, newspapers, journals, etc., and this exposes them to wider information about their world. Thus, writing should be practiced consistently to get learners used to identifying and solving the writing challenges they encounter. This will increase the learners' end-of-year grades and enhance their overall academic performance.

Teachers should inform learners about career options available in respect of Home Languages, particularly the indigenous languages. One can write/edit newspapers, books, poems, or become an interpreter, a general secretary, a researcher, etc. Thus, the importance of learners to know what they can become by studying Sepedi Home Language and other indigenous languages should not be undermined. Writing also helps one to communicate with other people from different parts of the world, be it that

69

the recipient of the message is in or outside South Africa. Thus, this study recommends that essay writing, as the starting point for the learners' lifelong writing careers, be given deserved attention, time and support by all education practitioners and stakeholders.

### 5.6 Conclusions

This chapter presented the summary of chapters, the summary of findings and the recommendations. Thus, it is hoped that the findings and recommendations of this study will help teachers and learners to overcome the challenges that exist regarding essay writing skills development. This study however covers the rationale that essay writing should be covered in all aspects of teaching and learning to enable learners to write across the curriculum. It is recommended that secondary school learners be actively involved in initiatives of improving their grammar, vocabulary, language organisation to be able to produce meaningful texts.

In this study, it was realised that writing is a challenge that is rooted deep from the primary levels up to the tertiary level. This has led to the understandable recommendation that educators, especially language educators, must work on learners' writing development from their lower grades to avoid hiccups of writing in the higher grades. In summary, Setyowati et al., (2022) say that good application of writing strategies, methods and activities is beneficial and practical for language learning and teaching.

#### REFERENCES

Abdalrahman, K.K. (2021). Teaching and Learning Writing Skills through Literature. Canadiana Journal of Language and Literature Studies, 1(12): 1-10.

Akram, M., Siddiqa, A., Nami, A.G., Shahzad, W. And Rashid, M., 2020. Essay Writing and Its Problems: A Study of ESL Students At Secondary Level. *International Journal of English Linguistics*, *10*(6), P.237.

Al Badi, I.A.H., 2015, January. Academic Writing Difficulties of ESL Learners. In *the* 2015 WEI International Academic Conference Proceedings, 1(1): 65-78).

Al Mubarak, A.A., 2017. An Investigation of Academic Writing Problems Level Faced By Undergraduate Students at Al Imam Al Mahdi University-Sudan. *English Review: Journal Of English Education*, *5*(2):175-188.

Al Seyabi, F. And Tuzlukova, V., 2014. Writing Problems and Strategies: An Investigative Study in the Omani School And University Context. *Asian Journal of Social Sciences & Humanities*, *3*(4): 37-48.

Alafnan, M.A., Dishari, S., Jovic, M. And Lomidze, K., 2023. Chatgpt as an Educational Tool: Opportunities, Challenges, and Recommendations for Communication, Business Writing, and Composition Courses. *Journal of Artificial Intelligence and Technology*, *3*(2): 60-68.

Algarin-Ruiz, K.M., 2014. Code Switching: A Tool in the Classroom. *The College At Brockport: State University Of New York: Education And Human Development*, Pp29-35.

Ali, Z., Palpanadan, S.T., Asad, M.M., Churi, P. And Namaziandost, E., (2022). Reading Approaches Practiced In EFL Classrooms: A Narrative Review And Research Agenda. *Asian-Pacific Journal of Second and Foreign Language Education*, 7(1): 1-25.

Alker, C.J., (2014). Classroom Assessment Techniques for Promoting More Positive Experiences in Teaching and Learning. In *Positive Psychology in Higher Education*, (13-18).

Archila, P.A., Molina, J. & De Mejia, A.M.T. (2021). Fostering Bilingual Scientific Writing through a Systematic and Purposeful Code-Switching Pedagogical Strategy. International Journal of Bilingual Education and Bilingualism, 24(6): 785-803.

71

Ariyanti, A. And Fitriana, R., (2017), October. EFL Students' Difficulties and Needs in Essay Writing. In *International Conference On Teacher Training and Education 2017 (ICTTE 2017)*, (32-42). Atlantis Press.

Ariyanti, A., 2016. Shaping Students' Writing Skills: The Study of Fundamental Aspects in Mastering Academic Writing. *Indonesian Journal of EFL and Linguistics*, 28: 63-77.

Asare, I.A., Plahar, J.D.K., Pantah, A. And Adansi, J.E., 2022. Effects of Social Media on Students' Writing: The Case Study of Mount Mary College of Education. *International Journal of Social Science, Education, Communication and Economics (Sinomics Journal)*, *1*(2): 45-74.

Asari, S. & Marul, N. (2022). Organizational Method of (EFL) Undergraduate Students' Academic Essay Writing With and Without Pre-Determined Topic. Budapest International Research and Critics Institute (BIRCI-Journal) Humanities and Social Sciences 5(3):637-648.

Bandura, A., 1989. Social Cognitive Theory. Dalam R. Vasta. *Annals of Child Development*, 6: 1-60.

Barkhuizen, G., 2014. Narrative Research in Language Teaching And Learning. *Language Teaching*, *47*(4): 450-466.

Bataineh, Z.F., AL-Hamad, R.F. & AL-Jamal, D.A. (2018). *The Journal of Teaching English with Technology*. Journal of Critical Reviewsissn- 2394-5125 VOL 7, ISSUE 15, 2020. Ministry Of Education Al-Anbar General Directorate of Education Ministry of Education, 7(15): 79-94.

Bhandari, L.P. And Pokharel, P.R., 2022. Academic Writing and Politics. *Lumbini Journal of Language and Literature*, *3*(1): 13-19.

Booyse, C. and Du Plessis, E., 2014. *Curriculum Studies: Development, Interpretation, Plan and Practice*. Pretoria: Van Schaik, Pp12-36.

Bulqiyah, S., Mahbub, M. And Nugraheni, D.A., 2021. Investigating Writing Difficulties in Essay Writing: Tertiary Students' Perspectives. *English Language Teaching Educational Journal*, *4*(1), Pp.61-73.

Chan, HC. Melor, MY. Maslawati, M. (2018). 'WHO WE ARE' In Enhancing Rural Students English As A Second Language (ESL) Learning. Published By The English Language Education Publishing, *33*(9), Pp.731-747.

Chandra, V. and Tangen, D., (2018). Demonstration of Twenty-First Century Skills Through an ICT Teaching Problem: Experiences of Pre-Service Teachers in a Fijian Classroom. *The Globalisation of Higher Education: Developing Internationalised Education Research And Practice*, Pp.183-195.

Clarke, C., 2017. An Analysis of Chinua Achebe's an Image of Africa: Racism in Conrad's Heart of Darkness. CRC Press.Pp.11-13.

Creswell, J.W. And Poth, C.N., 2016. *Qualitative Inquiry and Research Design: Choosing among Five Approaches*. Sage Publications: 10: 20-22.

De Smedt, F., Merchie, E., Barendse, M., Rosseel, Y., De Naeghel, J. And Van Keer, H., 2018. Cognitive and Motivational Challenges in Writing: Studying the Relation with Writing Performance across Students' Gender and Achievement Level. *Reading Research Quarterly*, *53*(2): 249-272.

Deiniatur, M., 2021. Students Perception on the Use of Google Classroom In Essay Writing Class. *INCARE, International Journal of Educational Resources*, *1*(6): 496-507.

Department of Basic Education. (2010). *Dictionary of Education Concepts and Terms. Unpublished Report.* Pretoria: Department of Basic Education.

Department of Education. (1997). Language in Education Policy, Section 3(4) (M) of the National Education Policy Act, 1996 (Act 27 Of 1996).

Department of Education. (2002). *Revised National Curriculum Statement Grades R-9, (Schools) – Languages: English Home Language.* Pretoria: National Department of Education.

Dewa, R.P., Putruyasa, I.B., Putru, I.B. & Aryana, M. (2018). The Types of Sentences in the Essay of Grade VI Elementary School Students in Bali Province: A Syntactic Study. Proceedings of the Fourth Prasasti International Seminar on Linguistics (Prasasti 2018), 174-183.

Dewi, F.S. &Huda, M.C. (2019). An Analysis of Student's Errors in Writing Descriptive Text at Tenth Grade of SMAN 1. BRIGHT: *A Journal of English Language Teaching, Linguistics, and Literature,* 3(1): 11-20. Dondapati, S., (2020). Developing Essay Writing Skills of ESL Learners Using Task Based Language T Bhandari, B.L., (2022). Collaborative Language Learning Practices of Teachers in ELT Classroom. *Lumbini Journal of Language and Literature*, *3*(1):1-12.

Elser, C. (2023). *Essay In Education: Why It Is Important For Students to be Able to Write Well.* University of Melbourne, Carlton, Victoria 3052, Australia, 50-72.

Farrier, B.J.W, 2017. "Talkin'bout Good & Bad" Pedagogies: Code-Switching Vs. Comparative Rhetorical Approaches. *College Composition and Communication*, 69(2): 230-259.

Fathi, J. and Rahimi, M., 2022. Electronic Writing Portfolio in a Collaborative Writing Environment: its Impact on EFL Students' Writing Performance. *Computer Assisted Language Learning*, 1-39.

French, J., 2018. *Help! My Students Write Like they Text: Teaching Code-Switching to Improve Writing*. Rowman & Littlefield, 33-41.

Gong, C., Tan, C.L. And Chin, C.K., (2018). Scaffolding Instruction of Chinese Essay Writing with Assessment as Learning. *Teaching Chinese Language in Singapore: Efforts and Possibilities*, 121-134.

Greetham, B. (2022). How to Write Better Essays. Bryan Greetham, 25-10.

Hard, N., Lee, P. And Dockett, S., (2018). Mapping the Policy Landscape of Australian Early Childhood Education Policy through Document Analysis. *Australasian Journal of Early Childhood*, *43*(2): 4-13.

Hard, N., Lee, P. And Dockett, S., 2018. Mapping the Policy Landscape of Australian Early Childhood Education Policy through Document Analysis. *Australasian Journal of Early Childhood*, *43*(2): 4-13.

Holstein, A., Prilop, C.N., Kleinknecht, M. And Weber, K.E., 2021. Innovative 6 Approaches for Teacher Professional Development. *Quality in Teacher Education and Professional Development: Chinese and German Perspectives*, 83.

Hopewell, S. And Abril-Gonzalez, P., 2019. ¿ Por Qué Estamos Code-Switching? Understanding Language Use in a Second-Grade Classroom. *Bilingual Research Journal*, *42*(1): 105-120.

Howlett, G. And Waemusa, Z., 2019. 21st Century Learning Skills and Autonomy: Students' Perceptions of Mobile Devices and the Thai EFL Context. *Teaching English with Technology*, *19*(1): 72-85.

Hussein, R.F., Saed, H.A. & Haider, S.A. (2020). Teachers and Students Code-Switching: The Inevitable Evil in EFL Classrooms. International Journal of Learning, Teaching and Educational Researchvol, 19(2): 60-78.

Ibili, E., Çat, M., Resnyansky, D., Şahin, S. & Billinghurst, M. (2020). An Assessment Of Geometry Teaching Supported With Augmented Reality Teaching Materials to Enhance Students' 3D Geometry Thinking Skills. *International Journal of Mathematical Education in Science and Technology*, 51(2): 224-246.

Ifenthaler, D., 2022. Automated Essay Scoring Systems. In Handbook of Open, Distance and Digital Education. Singapore: Springer Nature Singapore.

Karakoc, A.L, Ruegg, R. And Gu, P., 2022. First-Year Writing In the Humanities and Social Sciences: Requirements, Expectations, and Perceived Weaknesses. *Language Teaching Research*, 3-62.

Knight, S., Shibani, A., Abel, S., Gison, A., Radhika, M. & Shum, S. (2020). A Learning Analytics Tool for Formative Feedback on Academic Writing. Journal of Writing Research, 12(1): 41-186.

Kohnke, L., 2022. A Pedagogical Chatbot: A Supplemental Language Learning Tool. *RELC Journal*, 33-68.

Kretzer, M.M. & Kaschula, R.H. 2019. Language Policy and Linguistic Landscapes At Schools In South Africa. *International Journal of Multilingualism*, 18(1): 105-127.

Kumar, R., Mathias, S., Saha, S. And Bhattacharyya, P., 2021. Many Hands Make Light Work: Using Essay Traits to Automatically Score Essays. *Arxiv Preprint Arxiv:* 2102.00781.

Lee, H.L.J., 2010. Code Switching in the Teaching of English as a Second Language To Secondary School Students. *Malaysian Journal of ELT Research*, *6*(1).

Li, J. And Huang, J., 2022. The Impact of Essay Organization And Overall Quality on The Holistic Scoring of EFL Writing: Perspectives from Classroom English Teachers and National Writing Raters. *Assessing Writing*: *51*. Lin, A., 2013. Classroom Code-Switching: Three Decades of Research. *Applied Linguistics Review*, *4*(1): 195-218.

Liu, M., Li, Y., Xu, W. And Liu, L., 2016. Automated Essay Feedback Generation and Its Impact on Revision. *IEEE Transactions on Learning Technologies*, *10*(4): 502-513.

Mabasa, L.T. And Lumadi, T.Z., (2016). Teaching Strategies for Improving Reading and Writing in English First Additional Language for Men and Women. *Gender and Behaviour*, *14*(2): 7489-7494.

Makgai, M.C. (2015). *Essay Writing Skills: A Concern in Sepedi Secondary School in the Bronkhorspruit Circuit*, Gauteng Province. University Of Pretoria.

Makhubela, M., 2019. Using the Trauma Symptom Checklist for Children-Short Form (TSCC-SF) on Abused Children in South Africa: Confirmatory Factor Analysis and Rasch Models. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *98*(10): 42-41.

Maledu, A.D., Motlhaka, H.A., Molotja, T.W. And Phokwane, P.P., 2023. Investigating Sepedi Spelling Errors Performed by Second Year Student Educators in the University of Limpopo. *Journal of Namibian Studies: History Politics Culture*, *35*: 54- *5*(2).

Manning, M., Garvis, S., Fleming, C. and Wong, G.T., (2017). The Relationship between Teacher Qualification and the Quality of the Early Childhood Education and Care Environment. *Campbell Systematic Reviews*, *13*(1): 1-82.

Marue, M.G. And Pantas, M.B., 2019. Challenges in Descriptive Essay Writing: A Case of Indonesian EFL Leaners. *International Journal of Innovation, Creativity and Change*, *8*(12): 88-103.

Mcarthy, K.S., Roscoe, R.D., Allen, L.K., Likens, A.D. & Menamana, D.S. (2022). Automated Writing Evaluation: Does Spelling and Grammar Feedback Support High-Quality Writing and Revision? Assessing Writing, 52:1-4.

Michael, R.D., Webster, C.A., Egan, C.A., Nilges, L., Brian, A., Johnson, R. and Carson, R.L., 2019. Facilitators and Barriers to Movement Integration in Elementary Classrooms: A Systematic Review. *Research Quarterly for Exercise and Sport*, *90*(2): 151-162.

Modiba, P. (2018). Evaluating the Implementation of Curriculum in Teaching Reading and Writing in Sepedi Home Language in Mankweng Circuit of Limpopo Province, Http://Hdl.Handle.Net/10386/2414 Mohajan, H.K., 2018. Qualitative Research Methodology in Social Sciences and Related Subjects. *Journal of Economic Development, Environment and People*, *7*(1): 23-48.

Muliani, S., Norahmi, M. And Asi, N., 2019. The Analysis of Difficulties in Writing Narrative Text. *LET: Linguistics, Literature and English Teaching Journal*, 9(2): 244-264.

Mutimani, M.M., 2016. Academic Writing in English: Challenges Experienced By Bachelor of Education Primary Level Students at the University of Namibia. Katima Mulilo Campus (Doctoral Dissertation, University of Namibia):132.

Mwangi, S.W. (2016). Challenges Faced By Undergraduate Students in Academic Writing: A Case of Kenya Student. St. Paul<sup>®</sup>S University: 1-7.

Myers, T.K., 2020. Can You Hear Me Now? An Auto-ethnographic Analysis of Code-Switching. *Cultural Studies*↔*Critical Methodologies*, *20*(2): 113-123.

Naibaho, L., 2022. The Integration of Mind Mapping Strategy on Students' Essay Writing: ISSN: 2502-8103 (Print) ISSN: 2477-8524. 5-7.

Nhan, D.T. & Lap, T.Q., 2023. Complex Sentences Used In English-Majored Students' Essay Writing: Pedagogical Implications. *European Journal of Education Studies*: Pp*10*.

Nickerson, C., 2022. Interpretivism Paradigm & Research Philosophy. *Simply Sociology*.

Njie, B. And Asimiran, S., 2014. Case Study as a Choice in Qualitative Methodology. *Journal of Research & Method In Education*, *4*(3): 35-40.

Nondabula, N., (2020). Investigating the Teaching and Learning of Creative Writing in English First Additional Language in Selected Grade 9 Classrooms in the Western Cape, 4-5.

Nor, H., 2018. Providing Web Based Learning Materials (GOOGLE CLASSROOM) for Teaching Essay Writing Course. *English Education: Jurnal Tadris Bahasa Inggris*, *11*(1): 45-58.

Nyang'au, B.N., 2014. Challenges Students Face in Learning Essay Writing Skills in English Language in Secondary Schools in Manga District, Nyamira County, Kenya. *Kenyatta University*, 69-77.

Oktavianti, D., Gusmuliana, P. And Apriani, E., 2021. The Students' Strategies in Developing their Ideas in Writing Essay. *Jadila: Journal of Development and Innovation in Language and Literature Education*, *1*(4): 389-406.

Omoera, O.S., Aiwuyo, O.M., Edemode, J. And Anyanwu, B., 2018. Impact of Social Media on the English Language Writing Abilities of Undergraduates in Ekpoma, Nigeria. *Gist Education and Learning Research Journal*, *17*: 59-80.

Pestaria, F., Sinurat, B. And Napitupulu, S., 2014. Students' Difficulties in Writing Report Text at Grade IX of SMP Negeri 5 Tanjungbalai. *IOSR Journal of Humanities and Social Science*, *19*(1): 28-34.

Pham, V.P.H. (2021). The Effects of Collaborative Writing on Students Writing Fluency: An Efficient Framework for Collaborative Writing. SAGE.

Putrayasa, I.B. (2019). Syntactical Analysis of Essays. *International Journal of Social Sciences and Humanities*, 3(2): 156~164.

Putrayasa, I.B. And Ramendra, D.P., 2021. Syntactic Study Based on Character Education Values Essays of Fourth Grade Elementary School Student in Bali Province. *International Journal of Linguistics, Literature and Culture*, 7(5): 396-404.

Rahaman, Y.A. (2020). Delving the Hook Sentence in Argumentative Essay: Finding the Writers Preferences of Catchy Sentences. Jurnal Educatio FKIP UNMA, 6(1): 97-105.

Rahma, A.A. And Rosa, R.N., 2021. An Analysis on Students' Ability in Using Compound-Complex Sentences in Writing a Short Essay. *Journal of English Language Teaching*, *10*(1): 53-60.

Ro'ufiyati, D.F. and Mahbub, M.A., 2023. Students' Essay Writing Anxiety: A Narrative Study of Indonesian Tertiary EFL Learners. *JEES (Journal of English Educators Society)* 

Rocha, R.S., Filipe, M., Magalhães, S., Graham, S. And Limpo, T., 2019. Reasons to Write In Grade 6 and Their Association with Writing Quality. *Frontiers in Psychology*.

Salaudeen, K.A. And Lawal, H.A., 2019. Social Media Addiction and Formal Writing Skills among Mass Communication Students in Osogbo, Southwestern Nigeria. *The Journal of Social Media in Society*, *8*(1): 67-86.

78

Salaxiddinovna, M.G. (2022). Solutions to the Problems of Teaching Writing Skills in English in Higher Education Institutions Based on Foreign Manuals. Phill: 44-51.

Samuels, B. And Garbati, J., 2018. *Mastering Academic Writing*. SAGE, 97-101.

Saprina, C.M., Rosyid, A. and Suryanti, Y., 2021. Difficulties in Developing Idea Encountered by Students in Writing Argumentative Essay. *Journal of English Teaching and Linguistics Studies (JET Li)*, *3*(1): 48-54.

Sari, M.K., 2017. An Analysis of Students' Problem in Writing Recount Text. *Jurnal Educative: Journal of Educational Studies*, *2*(1): 14-21.

Segabutla, M.H. & Evans, R. (2019). 'Lack of Lecturer Clarity During Instruction: Possible Reason for Poor Throughput? *South African Journal of Higher Education*, 33(3): 115-131.

Setyowati, L., Abiyasa, F.R. And El-Sulukiyyah, A.A., 2022. The Students' Perception on Writing Tools Application for Essay Writing Class. *Jurnal Dimensi Pendidikan Dan Pembelajaran*, *10*(1): 33-46.

Setyowati, L., Prayogo, K.J.D., Gane, B.A. And Putri, S.S., 2022. Using Environmental Issues for Essay Writing Class: The Students' Views and Challenges. *Kne Social Sciences*, 23-36.

Seyoum, W.M., Yigzaw, A. And Bewuketu, H.K., 2022. Students' Attitudes and Problems on Question-Based Argumentative Essay Writing Instruction. *Journal of English Language Teaching and Learning*, *3*(2): 58-63.

Shafie, L.A. And Nayan, S., 2013. Languages, Code-Switching Practice and Primary Functions of Facebook among University Students. *Study in English Language Teaching*, *1*(1): 187-199.

Shahzadi, A. And Kausar, G., 2020. Using Social Media to Improve Students' English Writing Skills: A Mixed Method Study. *Journal of Research in Social Sciences*, *8*(1): 2305-6533.

Sibeko, J., (2016). *The Use of Rubrics and Correction Codes in The Marking of Grade 10 Sesotho Home Language Creative Writing Essays* (Doctoral Dissertation, North-West University (South Africa), Vaal Triangle Campus). 40-44.

Sing, C.W., Woo, Y.C., Lee, A.C., Lam, J.K., Chu, J.K., Wong, I.C. & Cheung, C.L., 2017. Validity of Major Osteoporotic Fracture Diagnosis Codes in the Clinical Data

Analysis and Reporting System in Hong Kong. *Pharmacoepidemiology and Drug Safety*, *26*(8): 973-976.

Singh, C.K.S., Singh, A.K.J., Razak, N.Q.A. And Ravinthar, T., 2017. Grammar Errors Made By ESL Tertiary Students in Writing. *English Language Teaching*, *10*(5):16-27.

Sogutlu, E. & Velia, O. (2022). EFL Learners' Challenges in Essay Writing: The Case of a Non-Public High School in Albania. Journal of Positive School Psychology 6(4): 3958-3981.

Song, W., Liu, T., Fu, R., Liu, L., Wang, H. And Liu, T., 2016, December. Learning to Identify Sentence Parallelism in Student Essays. In *Proceedings of Coling 2016, The 26th International Conference on Computational Linguistics: Technical Papers*, 794-803.

Songxaba, S.L. And Sincuba, L., 2019. The Effect of Social Media on English Second Language Essay Writing with Special Reference to Whatsapp. *Reading & Writing-Journal of the Reading Association of South Africa*, *10*(1): 1-7.

Soylu, M.Y., Zeleny, M.G., Zhao, R., Bruning, R.H., Dempsey, M.S. and Kauffman, D.F., 2017. Secondary Students' Writing Achievement Goals: Assessing the Mediating Effects of Mastery and Performance Goals on Writing Self-Efficacy, Affect, and Writing Achievement. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *8*.

Suhaimah, B., Arif, M.M. & Ayu, N.D. (2021). Investigating Writing Difficulties in Essay Writing: Tertiary Students Perspectives. *English Language Teaching Educational Journal*, 4(1): 61-73.

Suhaimah, S. And Setyowati, L., 2021. The Students' Opinion on Online Learning. *EDUCAFL: Journal of Education of English as Foreign Language*, *4*(2): 85-91.

Suhaimi, N.D., Mohamad, M. And Yamat, H., 2019. The Effects of Whatsapp in Teaching Narrative Writing: A Case Study. *Humanities & Social Sciences Reviews*, 7(4): 590-602.

Surat, S., Rahman, S., Mahamod, Z. And Kummin, S., 2014. The Use of Metacognitive Knowledge in Essay Writing among High School Students. *International Education Studies*, *7*(13): 212-218.

Susanti, A. And Tarmuji, A., 2016. Techniques of Optimizing Whatsapp as an Instructional Tool for Teaching EFL Writing in Indonesian Senior High

Schools. *International Journal on Studies in English Language and Literature*, *4*(10), 26-31.

Syam, U.K., Sangkala, I. & Syarif, I. (2018). Code Mixing and Code Switching in the Classroom Interaction at SMA Negeri 2 Takalar. English Education Department/Universitas Muhammadiyah Makassar, Indonesia, 4(1): 26-31.

Tefl, A. (2016). The Quality of Essay Writing of Indonesian EFL Learners. ASIAN TEFL

Ukaegbu, J.B., Umar, A.A., Mohammed, S.S. & Masuga, I.B. (2019). Effect of Sentence Combining Instruction on Students' Achievement Rate in Essay Writing in North Central Geo-Political Zone of Nigeria. *World Journal of Innovative Research* (WJIR) ISSN: 2454-8236, 6(1): 35-45.

Ustunel, E. (2016). EFL Classroom Code-Switching. Palgrave Macmillan UKISBN. Pages 8-16.

Uymaz, E., 2019. The Effects of Peer Feedback on the Essay Writing Performances of EFL Students. *International Journal of Curriculum and Instruction*, *11*(2), Pp.20-37.

Vasu, K.A.P., Fung, Y.M. & Rushid, S.M.D. (2020). Self-Regulated Learning Development in Udergraduates ESL Writing Classrooms: Teacher Feedback versus Self-Awareness. SAGE Publications. 2455 Teller Road, Thousand Oaks, CA 91320. A Journal of Language Teaching and Research, 53(3): 612-626.

Vikneswaran, T. & Krish, P. (2016). Utilising Social Networking Sites to Improve Writing: Case Study with Chines Students in Malaysia. *Technology, Pedagogy and Education* 25 (3): 1-4.

Walia, R., (2015). A Saga of Qualitative Research. Social Crimonol, 5(2): 124.69.

Walker, J., Gupta, A. And Hebert, M., (2014). Patch to the Future: Unsupervised Visual Prediction. In *Proceedings of the IEEE Conference on Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition* (3302-3309).

Walker, P., (2014). International Student Policies in UK Higher Education from Colonialism to the Coalition: Developments and Consequences. *Journal of Studies in International Education*, *18*(4): 325-344.

White, T. (2020). What is an Essay? Handmade Writing Blog: 5-6 @ Handmadewriting

Widayanti, & Ega, D. (2021). An Analysis of Eleventh Grade Students' Ability in Writing Cause and Effect Essay. Department of English Language Education, Faculty of Tarbiyah (IAIN Kediri). Department of English Language, English Language Education, Faculty of Tarbiyah (IAIN Kediri):9-18.

Widiastuti, I.A.M.S., Mantra, I.B.N. And Murtini, N.M.W., 2020. An Analysis Of Text Writing Acquisition By Pre-Service Teachers. *International Journal of Linguistics and Discourse Analytics*, *1*(2): 25-31.

Wil, C.S.C., Yunus, M.M. and Suliman, A., 2019. The Use of Social Media to Assist Writing Skills among Secondary Pupils. *International Journal of Academic Research in Progressive Education and Development*, 8(3): 224-236.

Wilby, J., 2022. Motivation, Self-Regulation, and Writing Achievement on a University Foundation Programme: A Programme Evaluation Study. *Language Teaching Research*, *26*(5): 1010-1033.

William, M. K. (2021). *Research Methods Knowledge Base* (Vol. 2). Macmillan Publishing Company, New York: Atomic Dog Pub. 20-22.

Williams, K.M. and Corwith, A., (2021). Beyond Bricks and Mortar: The Efficacy of Online Learning and Community-Building at College Park Academy During The COVID-19 Pandemic. *Education and Information Technologies*, 26(5): 55-76.

Wilson, J. and Roscoe, R.D., 2020. Automated Writing Evaluation and Feedback: Multiple Metrics f Efficacy. *Journal of Educational Computing Research*, *58*(1): 87-125.

Wright, K.L., Hodges, T.S. And Mctigue, E.M., 2019. A Validation Program for the Self-Beliefs, Writing-Beliefs, and Attitude Survey: A Measure of Adolescents' Motivation toward Writing. *Assessing Writing*, *39*: 64-78.

Yanow, D., 2014. Interpretive Analysis and Comparative Research. In Comparative Policy Studies: Conceptual and Methodological Challenges. London: Palgrave Macmillan UK.

Yilmaz Soylu, M., Zeleny, M.G., Zhao, R., Bruning, R.H., Dempsey, M.S. and Kauffman, D.F., 2017. Secondary Students' Writing Achievement Goals: Assessing the Mediating Effects of Mastery and Performance Goals on Writing Self-Efficacy, Affect, and Writing Achievement. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *8*.

82

Young, V.A. and Barrett, R., 2018. *Other People's English: Code-Meshing, Code-Switching, and African American Literacy*. Parlor Press LLC: 66-121.

Zakime, A., 2018. What is Process Writing? *Retrieved October*, *1*, 8.

Zen, S.P., (2018). Adoption of International Education Policy in Indonesia: Impact to Teacher Education and Professional Development. *Sukma: Jurnal Pendidikan*, 2(2): 187-203.

## APPENDICES

APPENDIX A: REQUEST LETTER TO THE DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION (CIRCUIT OFFICE)

Enquiry: Lemao S.M

Cell No: 0721347936

P O Box 113 Ga-Mothiba 0726 06 September 2021

Department of Education Mankweng Circuit Private Bag X1108 Sovenga 0727 Attention: Circuit Manager REQUEST FOR PERMISSION TO CONDUCT RESEARCH IN MANKWENG HIGH SCHOOL.

Dear Sir/Madam

My name is Lemao SM, Student no: 201601029 and I am a Master's Degree student at the University of Limpopo (UL). The research I wish to conduct for my Master's degree dissertation involves evaluating the challenges faced by grade 10 learners in applying the process of essay writing in Sepedi language in Mankweng Circuit of Limpopo Province. This study will be conducted under the supervision of Mr Phokwane and Dr Maledu in the Department of Language Education.

I hereby request your consent to approach one school in the Mankweng Circuit to provide participants for this project. I have provided you with a copy of my research proposal which includes copies of consent letters to school principals, interview schedule, as well as a copy of the approval letter which I received from the UL Research Ethics Committee.

Yours sincerely

Lemao S.M

## APPENDIX B: REQUEST LETTER TO THE SCHOOL PRINCIPAL

Enquiry: Lemao S.M

Cell No: 0721347936

P O Box 113

Ga-Mothiba

### 0726

06 September 2021

Mamabudusha Secondary School

P.O Box 289

Sovenga

0727

REQUEST FOR PERMISSION TO CONDUCT RESEARCH IN MAMABUDUSHA SECONDARY SCHOOL

Dear Sir/Madam

My name is Lemao SM, student no: 201601029 and I am a Master's degree student at the University of Limpopo (UL). The research I wish to conduct for my master's degree dissertation involves evaluating the challenges faced by grade 10 learners in applying the process of essay writing in Sepedi language in Mankweng Circuit of Limpopo Province. This study will be conducted under the supervision of Mr Phokwane and Dr Maledu in the Department of Language Education.

I hereby request your consent to approach your school Mamabudusha Secondary school to provide participants for this project. Upon completion of my study, I undertake to provide the school with a bound copy of the research report. If you require any further information, please do not hesitate to conduct me at 0721347936 or sabinahcomp@gmail.com. Thank you in advance for consideration.

Yours sincerely \_\_\_\_\_

Lemao S.M

## APPENDIX C: REQUEST LETTER TO ALL THE GRADE 10 LEARNER'S PARENTS

Enquiry: Lemao S.M

Cell No: 0721347936

P O Box 113

Ga-Mothiba

0726

06 September 2021

Mamotintane village

P.O Box 289

Sovenga

0727

REQUEST FOR PERMISSION TO CONDUCT RESEARCH IN MAMABUDUSHA SECONDARY SCHOOL WITH THE GRADE 10 LEARNERS.

## Dear Sir/Madam

My name is Lemao S.M student no: 201601029 and I am a master's degree student at the University of Limpopo (UL). The research I wish to conduct for my master's degree dissertation involves evaluating the challenges faced by grade 10 learners in applying the process of essay writing in Sepedi language in Mankweng Circuit of Limpopo Province. This study will be conducted under the supervision of Mr Phokwane and Dr Maledu in the Department of Language Education.

I hereby request your consent to allow your children as participants for this study. Upon completion of my study, I undertake to provide the school with a bound copy of the research report. If you require any further information, please do not hesitate to conduct me at 0721347936 or sabinahcomp@gmail.com. Thank you in advance for consideration.

Yours sincerely

Lemao S.

# APPENDIX D: CONSENT FORM FOR EDUCATORS

I,	, confirm that (please check box as appropriate	e):
1.	I have read and understood the information about the project, as	
	provided in the Information Sheet dated	
2.	I have been given the opportunity to ask questions about the project and	
	my participation.	
3.	I voluntarily agree to participate in the research.	
4.	I understand I can withdraw at any time without giving reasons and that	
	I will not be penalised for withdrawing nor will I be questioned on why I	
	have withdrawn.	
5.	The procedures regarding confidentiality have been clearly explained	
	(e.g. use of names, pseudonyms, anonymization of data, etc.) to me.	
6.	If applicable, separate terms of consent for interviews, audio, video or	
	other forms of data collection have been explained and provided to me.	
7.	The use of the data in research, publications, sharing and archiving has	
	been explained to me.	
8.	I understand that other researchers will have access to this data only if	
	they agree to preserve the confidentiality of the data and if they agree to	
	the terms I have specified in this form.	
9.	Select only <b>one</b> of the following:	
	<ul> <li>I would like my name used and understand what I have said or</li> </ul>	
	written as part of this study will be used in reports, publications	
	and other research outputs so that anything I have contributed to	
	this research can be recognised.	
	<ul> <li>I do not want my name used in this research.</li> </ul>	
10.	I, along with the Researcher, agree to sign and date this informed	
	consent form.	

Participant's Signature	Pr	int Name	Date	
Researcher's Signature	Print	Name		Date

# APPENDIX E: CONSENT FORM FOR THE LEARNERS

I, \_\_\_\_\_, confirm that (please check box as appropriate):

1.	I have read and understood the information about the project, as provided in the Information Sheet dated	
1.	I have read and understood the information about the project, as provided in the Information Sheet dated	
2.	I have been given the opportunity to ask questions about the project and my participation.	
3.	I voluntarily agree to participate in the research.	
4.	I understand I can withdraw at any time without giving reasons and that I will not be penalised for withdrawing nor will I be questioned on why I have withdrawn.	
5.	The procedures regarding confidentiality have been clearly explained (e.g. use of names, pseudonyms, anonymization of data, etc.) to me.	
6.	If applicable, separate terms of consent for interviews, audio, video or other forms of data collection have been explained and provided to me.	
7.	The use of the data in research, publications, sharing and archiving has been explained to me.	
8.	I understand that other researchers will have access to this data only if they agree to preserve the confidentiality of the data and if they agree to the terms I have specified in this form.	
9.	Select only <b>one</b> of the following:	

	I would like my name used and understand what I have said or	
	written as part of this study will be used in reports, publications	
	and other research outputs so that anything I have contributed to	
	this research can be recognised.	
	<ul> <li>I do not want my name used in this research.</li> </ul>	
10.	I, along with the Researcher, agree to sign and date this informed	
	consent form.	

Participant's Signature		Print Name	. Date
Researcher's Signature	Print	Name	Date

#### APPENDIX F: INTERVIEW SCHEDULE FOR EDUCATORS

**Researcher:** I am Sabina Makotseng Lemao, conducting my academic research, based on topic of the problems learners and educators face when writing essays. May I kindly interview you about essay writing if you are free?

1. What do you think about the processes of essay writing in Sepedi language classrooms, is it a challenge or not and why do you think so?

2. How do you engage learners in essay writing randomly beside during tests and exams in your Sepedi class or any other subject in class?

3. Is the essay writing in Sepedi and English or vice versa a common phenomenon your schools and in the surrounding community schools?

4. What types of essays are commonly taught in your classrooms or during your lessons?

.....

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

5. How often do you teach essays in your Sepedi class?

6. Do you think essays, you teach in your class or school is necessary and beneficial towards your learner's Sepedi writing skills or performance?

.....

7. Do all learners in your school have knowledge or skills of writing essays?

8. Do all learners understand the use and purpose of essay writing?

.....

9. Does the school or government su pport or promote essay writing?

10. Are both teachers and learners well-versed with the importance of essay wring among the process of teaching and learning in class?

11. What do think can be a profound solution to overcoming learner inabilities when<br/>writingessaysandwhy?

.....

90

## APPENDIX G: QUESTIONNAIRES FOR THE LEARNER

To determine whether skills for essay writing are used:

1. How often is essay writing conducted in your classroom?

2. During the lesson is the educator explaining different types of essays. ..... 3. Does the educator provide essay structure break down? ..... 4. Are you familiarized with the mind map and its purpose to you? ..... 5. Are you taught to consider word choice when writing essays? ..... 6. During lessons are you exposed consider the value or constituents of the introductory paragraph? ..... 7. Is the involvement of main ideas used when writing an essay? ..... 8. Are you taught how to consider the role or value of the concluding paragraph when writing essays? ..... 9. Do the written essay involve the use of figures of speech when writing an essay? ..... 10. During the writing of an essay do you make time for editing's .....

## APPENDIX H: LESSON OBSERVATION SCHEDULE

# LESSON: WRITING AND PRESENTATION SKILLS BASED ON ESSAYS

# GRADE: 10

1. Content planning and formats	yes	Νο	Comments
1.1 How is the lesson of essay writing skills introduced?			
1.2 In what context does essay writing skill appear?			
1.3 Do learners show understanding of the lesson?			
1.4 Is the lesson accurately prepared?			
1.5 Is the lesson designed to cover every learner's understanding?			

#### APPENDIX I: EXAMPLES OF LEARNER SCRIPTS OF ESSAYS.

Learner 1 isatsi ta ka ta pele to that's is its is matucing set be the triabile Eudu ka go ke maberse gare ke ya mphatong wa Marematiou. ka tsats: 100 le tijsitse lethabo go na kudu ka ge ke be ke maberise go yo (Aphahang Mphatong woo. Go bire restatsi re rebase e bire go bire retsatsi ra go trisa retuaba gonna ka gore kene ke Fela pelo ya go Filia go mphalo wa Maremation. Lo monatorg wa rena wa Maremation ne go rana remabo Fera qo bana basekoro gomme re barutisi ba tena ne batuabile kudu ka tsatsi 100 go bile bose e bile barutisi barena bare botsisa gore ge refetsa reya go dirang ituutiere toa monuto mang kua yunibesituing. he ile ha e hwetsa he thabile kudu e bile he memeter ha 45065: 100 . Gomme barutisi ba rena baile ba rehiania ledge banyaka re e ba le bolcomoso bio bo bolse. E bile baile ba leça maeie a mabotse tudu gore ge refetsa mphate wa Marematicu re ye re ituate diso the diborne re leberera mesono yarera. Toatsing 100 go hiwele go le remaenta go bontona gore re thavite kudu ebite re hwetig letsebo le bohlokwa bja thato. Barutisi ba refile maele a mabolise kuldu gomme gu rice nako ya gore reye que erinar le ge bare conona gomme bare re enjokomere. La toatsi la mathemo ba Egonne go rebontsua gore de o le unavara ma pellolo o swancese o some ka madetia kudu e bire

Leamer Z Tsali! latra la ple setarge se se phagamego su godino Sa nywarokala secondary gete thoma mphate water we sesure, scholong, kebe the maters." Thile tresa Estephi le gove kenna keyong meholoro no sesura Seo Sebego se mmoholiso ke gove pere hena seta Sa hlosana ke apare unifomo ye Eblued mara kerile ge Ke Keno Scholong so nywanoscola ko hwello ba apara ye Sovoluona Seo sebego se moutradité ke yore ke hurdité bar na be bentii le baruhis! de bants Scholong Se Se bego Sengalela kuda ke go plakantina mara ka gore netre gajilette gore the typone no the yatelettu yore kebe te Ckyone go blatenta Isali. 100 kehe ket Thogile hude lege tete Ke Bhaba balho Gre dula ka o tre o tec ka mphalory, kobet Kela Mohe moths ke Sena motyolls,' ke Phola kele tee Scholage letra natio ya go sa Stratorg. Maria yo vile que gonthe gogo queyo ka hadhe Moguera ka thusana te jera ka mehakang na thusana ka tsadi thuko a pethosa ka seo Schego Se meatela ta mehalora go Fibla o ke dira mehata va marconallore scholage

Li-Fürtzt In Ira Intele Scholing	Ke that is her lepera schoory he be he thoughter, he telser, he gove he be he is trebe trated schring he that is go loter hile he so duti tradery guatimeter notionne yo more yo he transfore to the herebacky ye tree, a nyale go din multiss also her herebasethe a Matter he ge a nyale go din Schootsi tenner hile her there see bage te mu he be he nyahe	Selepotes' estala lee Sa trade gone hue laber thong. Mossimme yo ise hu thom go quala le your hu tëntëri eez & ise a vishisa se denguera ba gaque ba bangue ba bubabi nosimme se Aguani nyerar he ise ha thoras go quala se bana kelmisma hu Messoro ya seloolor Mutatëri a site ge a ta teoma kelmisma ya ba yore he thoma go ba dhala se bana ba ya Muala	Le le tôngi la matterne her min ga ge ya ge gula dio le thorriet toolage ge guir ha bare la gre la ge he sa toorriet toolage la be bangeberz to hu hure h goez a se e raa o manteus selaany sa tara ha bangee ebite ba nëngaren na nerteur ba nertego fie sa risoja hu ge he be ke sa too gar burg hu an he ile ha ngan gore la huba buereng han	lide he tiek he kypeizlo za boshquao he nyan le yo tëzlata perzgo no letënzo ka teble të bintro hao han tezo ba a truegi moutisizadi yo nungue o ile a hitiçi gare ke ka iz bala tezig se suele ohne he tërgite bare behe. Aperturg unte baite baluer he di trugo moutisi o ileq ba botëic gore ba hala ba segn erg
1 20 Hz 1 A	Ka Hatti U la gove Ka latala hile yo ke tserna Mubitoo aku Sekyotsi lan	Selegotsi eta ile lu thorn ile baguera nguningana lu metopo	lea le thomile that it the thomile that the thomile that the thomile the bongue e toile file the a the t	little hur trely there hur hurberge bere he hur bourd biller hurber

## APPENDIX J: CLEARANCE CERTIFICATE FROM UNIVERSITY OF LIMPOPO

	WINVERSITY OF LIMPORD
	University of Limpopo rtment of Research Administration and Development Private Bag X1106, Sovenga, 0727, South Africa (015) 268 3766, Fax: (015) 268 2306, Email: trec@ul.ac.za
	TURFLOOP RESEARCH ETHICS COMMITTEE
	ETHICS CLEARANCE CERTIFICATE
MEETING:	09 January 2023
PROJECT NUMBER:	TREC/25/2023: PG
PROJECT:	
Title:	Challenges faced by Grade 10 learners in Sepedi Home Language essay writing Mankweng Circuit.
Researcher: Supervisor:	SM Lemao Mr PP Phokwane
Co-Supervisor/s:	N/A
School:	Education
Degree:	Master of Education
	RESEARCH ETHICS COMMITTEE s Committee (TREC) is registered with the National Health Research Ethics er: REC-0310111-031
date. Application month before lap ii) Should any depar	nce Certificate will be valid for one (1) year, as from the abovementioned for annual renewal (or annual review) need to be received by TREC one se of this period. ture be contemplated from the research procedure as approved, the it re-submit the protocol to the committee, together with the Application for
Amendment form	
	Finding solutions for Africa

## APPENDIX K: SEPEDI ESSAY WRITING GUIDELINE

		A DESCRIPTION OF THE OWNER OWNER OF THE OWNER OWNER OF THE OWNER OF THE OWNER OWN					- 12
	LE	NANEOISHWAIWA LA DI	le ar	150			
	-	T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T	TAOL	nor			
	1.	T	Ee	A	owa	Ditshwayoswayo	
	2.	Taodišo e na le hlogo?		1			
	1	Mmepe wa monagano'o gonaj					
	3.	Dintiha tša mmepe wa	-	-			
		monagano di nyalelana la					
		mogo le diteno?				T.	
	4.	Taodišo e na le matseno?					
	100	Matseno a na le maatlakgogedi?					
	6.	Taodišo e na le ditemana	-	-	_	3.	
		tša maleba?					
100	7.	Ditemana di a nyalelana		-			
		go ya ka peakanyo?				4 12	
	8.	Dikgopolokgolo le		1			
		dikgopolotlaleletšo di a - tšwelela?					
	9.	Taodišo e gomaretše		-	-		
		hlogo goba e tswele				1. 25	
		tseleng?					
		Polelo ke ya maleba?					
	11.	Kgetho le tirišo ya mantšu					
	1.0	e tšweletša maikutlo?	-	_	_		
	12.	Maswaodikga, mopeleto				1	
		le popopolelo di nepagetše?					
	13.	Retšistara le setaele ke tša	-			-	
0	100	maleba.					
	14.	Mafoko ke a matelele/	-	-	-		1
		makopana.		4	1		
	15.	Taodišo e na le mafetă:	-	-	1		
	16.	Mafetšo a na le	-			10	_
		ditšhišinyo/ dikakanyo/ a			1		
		tšweletša maemo a	1		i.	and the second s	
		mongwadi/ a a kgala/ a a			1.	the same is a	
		lemoša/ a tla ka tharollo					
		Temesar a da Ra alareno.			10		
				1			
		Transie in a set				making the second	
-	-						

Powered by CamScanner

# APPENDIX L: SEPEDI MARKING GUIDELINE.

Sepedi Leleme la Gae (HL)/P3 5 DBE/Dibokwane-Hlakola 2015 NSC
LEPHEPHE LA 3 KE MOSWANANOŜI, GO DIRIŜWA MASWAO A GO IKGETHA A GO SWAYA LEPHEPHE LE. ELA TLHOKO MASWAO A O A FILWEGO KA TLASE.
MASWAO A GO SWAYA LETLAKALA LA BORARO
1. () Go tlogetšwe leswao
2. O Go šomišitšwe tlhaka ye nnyane sebakeng sa
tihakakgolo goba go dirišitšwe ye kgolo sebakeng sa
ye nnyane
3. 🗧 Kopanya mantšu
4. / Kgaoganya mantšu
5. II? Ga go kwešišege
6.
$7. \rightarrow$ Thoma pele
8. # Temana ye mpsha e thoma fa
9. O Bošaedi
10. ?? Hlogo ga e gona
11 Go dirišitšwe mopeleto wa go fošagala
12. A Go tlogetšwe tlhaka/lentšu
Serverno
501
Tokelo ya ngwalollo e ileditšwe

Powered by CamScanner

raba emo a gabotse -Ditigopolo di a kgahliša ebile di sepelelana le hlogo/serenva -Peakanyo le temagano ya dikgopolo ke tše dibotse mo go matseno, mmele le mafetšo	25-27 19-21	(Go araba dipotisiso)       -Bokgoni bia go araba       -Potisiso e arabilwe       -Karabo e a i         Tatelano ya dikgopolo ge       go dinva peakanyo.       go dimodino go fetisa       -Dikgopolo di kgahlisa       -Dikgopolo di kgahlisa       -Dikgopolo di kgahlisa       temagane si         Temogo ya morero.       ta       baamogedi ba tshedimošo       -Dikgopolo tša go laetša       -Dikgopolo di kgahlisa       temagane si         Le dikamano.       ta       texneletšego       texneletšego       -Peakanyo le demagano ke       temagano ya dikgopolo ke tše dikaon         NEPUTSO YE 30       ta       tiseneletšego       -Peakanyo le demagano ke       matseno, mmale le mafetšo       matesbo	DITENG LE PEAKANYO 28-30 22-24	Bokgoni bja go ikgetha Bokgoni bja maemo	<ul> <li>ELA HLOKO:</li> <li>Diriša rubriki ye ge o swaya ditaodišo (Lephephe la 3, KAROLO YA A)</li> <li>Meputso ya 0–50 e arotšwe ka magato a mahlano a dithaloŝo Mo go diteng, polelo le mongwalelo, le legato le lengwe la le lengwe la magato a dithaloŝo a mahlan lego legato la godimo le la fase go lebeletŝwe kabo ya meputso le dithaloŝo Sebopego ga se sa arolwa ka legato la godimo le la fase</li> </ul>
e arabitwe ka o e arabitwe ka a se ya Naka ano ya o e a tisa ebile e a tisa ebile e a tisa ebile e a tisa dikgopolo no ya dikgopolo sofatsa mo go sofatsa mo go , mmele le	13-15	e a kgotsofatša ne ebile di a yo le no ya dikgopolo kaone mo go , mmele le	16-18	ja ja	ato a dithaloso a r
-Molekawa o tawee tseleng -Dikgopolo di Nakahlakane -Ga go peakanyo goba tlemagano ya dikgopolo yeo e tšwelelago		a d Se ebile Swelela	26-01	Bokgoni bja motheo	mahtano le arotive
higg yeo afilwago -O iswele tseleng kudukudu -Diteng ga di nepiše ebile di hakahakane	Constanting and in	-Akojekves o tilwese Itasleng kudskudu -Dikgopolo ga di nepšle hlogo eble di a lipoeletta -Ga go tatelano le tiemagano ya dikgopolo	1	Ga go beligont	to la aroldive ha diharolwana tile pedi, a

## APPENDIX M: HOLISTICAL SCORING GUIDE OF SEPEDI

Phetia

Dinyakwa/Dipharologantsho tsa setsweletswa. Tšwetšopele ya ditemana le tihamo ya mafoko. MEPUTSO YE 5	TROPEGO			POLELO, MONGWALELO LE PALOBOHLATSE Segalo, retšistara, mongwalelo, tlotlontšu ya maleba ya morero le dikamano. Kgetho ya manišu. Tirišo ya polelo le melawana, maswao, popopolelo le mopeleto. MEPUTSO YE 15
		Legato la fase		Legato la godimo
-Tśwetśopele ya sererwa ke ya maemo a godimodimo -Thalošo ya dikgopolo ke ya maemo a godimodimo -Thamo ya mafoko le ditemana ke ya go ikgetha, ya maemo a godimodimo	5	-Polelo ya maemo a godimodimo ya go ba le segalo se maatla -Ga go na le ge e ka ba phoŝwana e tee ya popopolelo goba mopeleto -Polelo e beakantŝwe ka bokgwari	13	14–15 -Segalo, retälstara, setaele le dotontšu di sepelelarna kudukudu le morero, baamogedi le dikamano -Polelo ke ya boltshepo, ya go nona, ya maatlakgogedi -Polelo e na le segalo sa go ba le maatlakgogedi ebile e nonne ka mebolelwana ya go kgahiša -Ga go na le ge e ka ba phośwana e tee ya popodelo le mopeleto -Polelo e beakantśwe ka bokgwari bja maemo a godimodimo
-Tatelano ye botse ya tšwetšopele ya dintlha -Tlemagano ye botse ya dintlha le dikgopolo -Mafoko le ditemana di beakantšwe ka makgethe	4	-Polelo ke ya maemo a godimo ya go ba le maatlakgogedi -Segalo ke sa maleba sa go ba le maatlakgogedi -Diphošwana tše nnyane tša popopoleto le mopeleto -Poleto e beakantšwe gabotse	10	11-12 Segalo, retšistara, sepelelana gabotsebotse le morero, baamogedi le dikamano -Poleio e na le maatla, ya segalo sa maleba -Diphoŝo tŝa popopoleio le mopeleto ga se tŝe kae -Poleio e beakantŝwe gabotsebotse
-Dinttha tša maleba di tšweleditšwe -Mafoko le ditemana di hlamegile gabotse -Taodišo e a kwagala	3	-Tiriŝo ya polelo e a kgotsofatŝa eupŝa e na le diphoŝo -Segalo se a kgotsofatŝa eupŝa mebolelwana ga se ya diriŝwa o kaalo	7	<ul> <li>B-0</li> <li>Segalo, retistara, sepelara gabots le morero, baarnoged le dikamanô</li> <li>Tiriso ya maleba ya polelo e dira gore molaetsa o kwagale</li> <li>Segalo ke sa maleba.</li> <li>Mebolelwana e dinišitiswe go godiša boleng bja diteng</li> </ul>
-Dintitha tša maleba ga se tše kae -Mafoko le ditemana di na le diphošo -Taodišo e a kwagala eupša e na le mafokodi	2	-Polelo ga e kgotsofatše -Ga go phapantšho ya mafoko -Tlotlontšu ga se ye kaalo	4	5-6 -Segalo, retilistara, sedade le ticlioritiu di e morero, baamogadi le diamano -Tirito ya poleto ka ya motheo -Segalo le moŝito ga et tia maleba -Tiotiontitu ke ye nnyane kudu
ga -Dintiha tŝa meleba ga di gona -Mafoko le ditemana di foŝagetŝe -Taodiŝo ga e kwagale	0-1			9-3 Prilaio ga e kwelikiugsie Susaala is todionstu ga di aspoleitane is diaamano -Tiodiontiku ke ye -Tiodiontiku ke ye -Tiodiontiku ke ye -Tiodiontiku ke ye -Tiodiontiku ke ye -tiogo gore e dira gore e lego gore e dira gore diaata di se kwelikiagsie

# HOLISTIC SCORING GUIDE CONTINUATION